An Investigation of the Perceptions of Foreign ESL Teachers in China Towards Teacher Accountability: A Comparison between Chinese ESL Teachers and Foreign ESL Teachers in China

An Investigation of the Perceptions of Foreign ESL Teachers in China Towards Teacher Accountability:

A Comparison between

Chinese ESL Teachers and Foreign ESL Teachers in China

By

Hailiang Zhao

A thesis

submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research
through the Faculty of Education in
partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Education.
Memorial University of Newfoundland

An Investigation of the Perceptions of Foreign ESL Teachers in China Towards Teacher Accountability: A Comparison between Chinese ESL Teachers and Foreign ESL Teachers in China

Abstract

This study investigated external and internal accountability of foreign ESL teachers in China through a comparison with Chinese local ESL teachers. A cross-sectional survey design was used. Two research questions were developed from a literature review to examine foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards external accountability and internal accountability

Questionnaires from forty-five foreign ESL teachers and eight-one Chinese local ESL teachers were collected through an on-line survey. Data of teachers' perceptions towards four constructs: external accountability (outside expectations), external accountability (school management), internal accountability (professional duty), and internal accountability (feelings about work), were analyzed. The findings showed that foreign teachers perceived that they were held externally accountable with regard to outside expectations, and they were not held externally accountable for school management. In terms of internal accountability, foreign teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable in both the construct of professional duty and the construct of feelings about work.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research owes a great deal to many people's help and support. I would like to extend my sincere thanks from the bottom of my heart.

Sincere thanks are firstly extended to Dr. Noel Hurley, my supervisor, for his unselfish and unfailing support from the very beginning to the end of my study. Dr. Hurley's personality and academic achievements have been encouraging me to go further along in my academic pursuits. Without his unflagging patience, my studies and research would not be completed.

I wish to thank the Faculty of Education of Memorial University for the support in the past two years.

I owe thanks to Mr. Kirk Martin, Director of Chinese Cultural Exchange Program, Drake University, and Dr. Yongzan Xu, Director of International Office, Hebei University of Science & Technology, for their huge support to my research.

I specially wish to thank my father, Zhencai Zhao, my mother, Rongfen Wang, and my wife Manzi. Their love, understanding, and support are the firmest backup of my life. As well, I wish to thank my sister Yuying and my brother Weiliang for their endless love and support.

Thank you all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Abstract	
Acknowledgments	
Table of Contents	
List of TablesList of Appendices	
List of Appendices	v
CHAPTER ONE Background of Educational Accountability Study	1
Introduction	
Background of the Research Problem	
The context of English teaching at China's universities	
The fever of English efficiency tests and teachers' dilemma	5
Statement of Research Questions	7
CHAPTER TWO Literature Review	9
The Influence of Social Contexts on Teacher Accountability	9
Political approach to teacher accountability	9
Professional approach to teacher accountability	
Classroom instructional dimension.	
Moral dimension.	
Managerial approach to teacher accountability	
Teacher Accountability in China	18
CHADTED TUDEE Mothodology	2′
CHAPTER THREE Methodology	
Data Collection	
Variables	
Independent variables	
Dependent Variables.	
Limitations	
Limitations	2)
CHAPTER FOUR Presentation of Data	31
Introduction.	
Data Presentation and Interpretation of Research Question One	
Teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to outside	
Expectations	34
Comparison of perceptions of external accountability with regard to outside	
expectations between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers	38
Teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school	
management	
Comparison of perceptions towards external accountability with regard to sch	
management between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers	
Conclusion for research question One	
Data Presentation and Interpretation of Research Question Two	45
Teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to professio	nal

	between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers
	chers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to feelings about k
	nparison of perceptions towards f internal accountability with regard to feelings out work between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers53
Con	clusion for research question Two53
Summary.	54
CHAPTI	ER FIVE Discussion and Conclusions
	on
	ding of Foreign ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards External
	pility56
De	emand of foreign ESL teachers in China and the related problems57
Fo	oreign ESL teacher managerial systems in China
	Managerial system at government level58
	Managerial system at school level59
Understan	ding of Foreign ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability60
Pro	ofessional advantages of foreign ESL teachers60
	L teachers' professional development
Fo	reign ESL teachers' career motivation65
Conclusion	n66
REFERE	ENCES67
APPEND	DICES78
	List of Tables
Table 3.1.	Reliability Coefficients: ESL Teacher's Accountability Variables28
Table 3.2.	Statistics of Variables of ESL Teachers' Accountability
Table 4.1.	Overall Statistics of the Constructs and Comparison between Foreign ESL
	Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers
Table 1.2	Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards
1 abic 4.2.	
	External Accountability with Regard to Outside Expectations36
Table 4.3.	Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL
	Teachers' Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to Outside
	Expectations
Table 4.4.	Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards
	External Accountability with Regard to School Administration41
Table 4.5	Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL
1 4010 T.J.	Teachers' Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to School
T 11 4 5	Management
Table 4.6.	Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions
	towards Internal Accountability with Regard to Professional Duty47

Table 4.7.	ble 4.7. Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL				
	Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with Regard to Professi	onal			
	Duty	.49			
Table 4.8.	Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards				
	Internal Accountability with Regard to Feelings about Work	51			
Table. 4.9	Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL				
	Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with Regard to Feelings	;			
	about Work	52			
	List of Appendices				
Appendix	A. Consortium for Cross-cultural Research in Education: A Survey of				
	Teachers' Perceptions of their Work	78			
Appendix	B. Ethics Review Letter	85			

An Investigation of the Perceptions of Foreign ESL Teachers in China Towards Teacher Accountability: A Comparison between Chinese ESL Teachers and Foreign ESL Teachers in China

CHAPTER ONE

BACKGROUND OF EDUCATIONAL ACCOUNTABILITY STUDY

Introduction

In recent years, accountability has been a popular topic in the educational domain, either in academic research or in educational policy making (Darling-Hammond, 2007; Miller & Smith, 2011). The Oxford English Dictionary defines accountability as "liability to give account of, and answer for, discharge of duties or conduct; responsibility, amenableness" (1995, p. 65), which highlights the points of responsibility and explanation.

In the educational domain, accountability involves the interrelationship between educators and other stakeholders, which should ultimately lead to an overall improvement in the whole system (Burstein, Oakes, & Guiton, 1992). Newmann, King and Rigdon (1997) consider "the historical concept of accountability as a relationship between a provider of a service and the agent who has the power to reward, punish or replace the provider" (as cited in Ahearn, 2000, p. 3). Current educational accountability systems are made up of wide-ranging standards for a certain theme and a series of measures and goals to test efficacy, thus leading to the center of a school accountability system "driven by quotas and sanctions" (Mintrop & Sunderman, 2009, p. 354). Jeffrey (2002) argues that "accountability in education is part of the 'audit explosion' in which trust has been replaced by audit accountability" (p. 542). A widely accepted method of measuring of educational accountability is the implementation of a series of high standards for teachers to follow, so as to spot and discard incompetent teachers.

Current studies show that for a better understanding of educational accountability, it is important to make clear who is being held accountable and for what is it that they are accountable for.

Leithwood (2005) stresses that the most fundamental element an educational system is to be accountable for is "the welfare of individual students" (p. 15).

Rosenblatt (2001) classifies educational accountability into three different levels: "an institutional level" (school accountability), "an office-holder's level" (administrator accountability), and "a teacher-student level" (teacher accountability) (p.309).

Firestone and Shipps (2005) suggest a thorough understanding of different levels of accountability, and leaders' accountability is central. However, as the most fundamental elements of a school and those with the most direct connection to the students, teachers have been playing an extremely important role in students' welfare and school development, therefore, teacher accountability needs to go "hand in hand with system accountability" (Rosenblatt, 2013, p. 3). Ouchi (2003) argues that teacher accountability should even be considered as a "national topic" (p. 106). Demand is increasing for a system to better measure teacher accountability.

Rosenblatt (2013) categorizes teacher accountability into two dimensions — external accountability and internal accountability. The former reflects certain behaviour stipulated by the school bureaucracy, such as regulating one's behaviour within an organizational boundary, then assessing and reporting; the latter reflects teachers' professional perceptions and inner ethics.

Lana (2015) contends that teacher accountability is concerned with awareness of best conduct, proficient professional knowledge, knowing national policies, effective instruction skills, students as center of classroom, and student success

assessment. The description covers a qualified teacher's external and internal accountability, as well as the external elements that might influence teacher accountability.

Background of the Research Problem

The context of English teaching at China's universities

The past three decades have witnessed remarkable changes with China's economy and society. China's open policy has won it access to increased interaction with the international community. In order to keep pace with its economic growth and social transformation, and to foster professionals who are capable of partaking in international competitions, China has conducted educational reforms a number of times and strengthening English teaching was one of the key components of every reform. The huge increase in attention to English teaching in China is also related to "the dominance of English in commercial, technical, scientific, and political spheres" (Smith, 1983, p. 32), and this helps "connect China to a globalized and interconnected world" (Paine & Fang, 2006, p. 280).

The College English Curriculum Requirements - CECR (Ministry of Education of China, 2007) outlines the objectives of college English education which are to develop students' English proficiency in an all-round way, namely, the English skills in terms of vocabulary, reading, writing, listening and speaking. Meanwhile, for the college English teachers, CECR requests that college English education must be involved with modern information technology, and it must combine traditional methods of teachers lecturing with computer-based web technology, so that English teaching and learning is freely accessible, more practical and informative. The new requirements embody the concepts that students are the learning subjects and teachers

dominate the class teaching activities. To the college English teachers, CECR formulates the goal of college English teaching and clarifies the necessity that college English teachers should update their knowledge and teaching methods, and enhance their individual efficacy.

However, Zhou (2005) concludes in *A Survey on Chinese College English*Teachers Development Need that although individual needs for professional development are prevalent among college English teachers, their wishes could not be satisfied in most cases. Xia (2012) argues that college English teachers are confronting a huge pressure for "lack of academic identity, being tired of teaching, and being situated in the difficulties" (p. 8).

In 1980, the Chinese government launched a policy named Proposed Regulations on Foreign Experts in Culture and Education Working in China (Trial), which is the earliest document concerning foreign ESL teachers teaching in China. Ever since then, the number of foreign ESL teachers in China has been increasing. As early as 2003, about 3,000 Chinese local educational institutions and publication units had been granted the rights to employ foreign experts. Statistics show that the total number of foreign teachers legally working in China with a foreign expert certificate in 2014 was 27,339 (The China Foreign Teachers Union, 2014).

This group of teachers, as a whole, has made great contributions in Chinese college students' English learning, disciplinary construction, and cultural exchanges. At the same time, they bear huge pressure in a completely different background where they "may encounter moral, pedagogic dilemmas and conflicts in their efforts to work towards resolving the two conflicting forces: internationalism and national/cultural identity" (Hiep, 2006, p. 35).

The fever of English efficiency tests and teachers' dilemma

The College English Test (CET) is a national English test administered by the National Commission for College English Test Band 4 and Band 6, on behalf of the Higher Education Department, Ministry of Education of China, with two bands, CET-4 and CET-6 testing lower and higher English proficiency respectively. The CET is designed to test the English proficiency of Chinese undergraduate students and postgraduate students, and ensure that they reach the required English levels specified in the Syllabus for College English Test, and at the same time, to provide data for Chinese college English teaching and reform (National Commission for College English Test Band 4 and Band 6, 2015).

However, from the year the CET was implemented, it was not simply an exam testing English proficiency, but rather a gatekeeper to career success and pay rise for the test-takers instead (Yu, 2008). For the college students, although the Ministry of Education never stipulated that a CET-4 certificate is a prerequisite that decides whether one can get his/her degree, a link-up between the CET-4 certificate and the degree is a popular practice at Chinese local universities (Liu, 2014); for the graduates, those who hold CET-6 certificates will usually have priority to better positions, good salaries, and even more opportunities for further study and career promotion. This might explain the fact that since the CET started in 1987, it has prospered year by year. Statistics show that nearly 100,000 college students attended the CET all over the country in 1987, and the number increased to 11,000,000 in 2004, with college students, senior high middle school students, and even the employees in different professions involved in (Xiao, 2010).

Due to China's economic growth and open policy, the early twenty first century has witnessed a great increase in the number of Chinese students who study abroad. In their Annual Report on the Development of Chinese Students Studying Abroad, Wang and Miao (2014) state that the total number of students studying outside of China in 2013 was 413, 900 — 3.58% more than that of 2012. Since 2000, the number has been increasing, and a sharp rise of over 10% occurred from 2007 to 2012.

The increased number of people who hope to study abroad has triggered a proliferation of different language training programs for the international English tests, such as Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), International English Language Testing System (IELTS), and Graduate Record Examination (GRE). The training programs are administered either by universities or by private agencies. For example, New Oriental, established in Beijing in 1993, has grown to be the top training institute in China, with franchised branches in 66 Chinese cities. Since its establishment, New Oriental has helped millions of trainees to realize their dreams of studying abroad by providing TOEFL, IELTS, and GRE training ("New Oriental", n.d.). Graddol (2006) indicates that Asian countries, especially China, have decided the future position of English as a global language.

However, a serious problem hiding behind the boom of English tests is the competition for English teachers, especially qualified and experienced teachers. Under such a condition, college English teachers, both local and foreign, are in great demand, and at the same time, they are trapped in a dilemma: On one hand, ESL teachers are highly expected to improve students' English skills by the outside society, and on the other hand, they have to confront difficulties resulted from school management, their own professional efficacy, and professional ethics.

Statement of Research Questions

Teacher accountability is always understood in different ways, since the stakeholders hold different perceptions of the teaching profession (Whitty, Power, & Halpin, 1998). Current trends in school accountability are strongly influenced by nations' attempts in the global competition which shape their education systems as skills providers. Teachers' perceptions of accountability are usually influenced by the school administration (Diamond, Burch, Hallett, Jita, & Zoltmers, 2010; Fullan, Rincon-Gallardo, & Hargreaves, 2015), for example, during the past two decades, school test-based accountability has held teachers accountable for knowledge learning, oriented by tests (Jaafar & Anderson, 2007; Sahlberg, 2010). However, as far as being accountable for implementing professional teaching standards, teacher professional development needs to be given much attention, since teachers' professional development has a huge influence on teachers' career goals and their classroom behaviour (Kallestad & Olweus, 1998). And studies show that when teachers have higher level of professional development, students gain better class performance (National Commission on Teaching and America's Future, 1996).

As test-oriented English teaching is booming in China, research on English teachers' accountability has become fairly important. Despite a number of studies on evaluating Chinese College English teachers' accountability, very little research has been conducted to study accountability of the foreign ESL teachers at China's colleges and universities. The present study attempts to fill this vacuum through a comparison between these two groups of teachers using a quantitative methodological approach. The study addresses two questions:

- 1. What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards external accountability? How is it different from that of Chinese ESL teachers?
- 2. What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability? How is it different from that of Chinese ESL teachers?

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

The Influence of Social Contexts on Teacher Accountability

Over the past decades, the world's educational systems have been changed by a "global movement of education reform" (Verger, Altinyelken, & Koning, 2013, p. 1), and teachers' professional knowledge and behaviours in classrooms have been considered as determinants of how well the educational system is functioning by the governments and organizations throughout the world. Teacher professionalism is featured in the interaction of social politics, culture, and the economy (Day, Flores, & Viana, 2007), and therefore, it is influenced by social contexts. For the sake of a better understanding of the accountability of public schooling, Henig (1994), Adams and Kirst (1999), and Leithwood and Earl (2000) studied different accountability systems, which include political, professional, moral, and bureaucratic approaches to accountability.

Political approach to teacher accountability

The political approach is perhaps the aspect that is most representative of the educational reform direction. The Obama administration presents a program entitled "Our Future, Our Teachers" (United States Department of Education, 2011), which depicts the blueprint for reforming and improving teacher education. In his speech Remarks to the Hispanic Chamber of Commerce (The White House, 2009), President Obama stressed that America's teachers decide the future of the country. To effectively execute the blueprint, "an evaluation of collegiate teacher preparation programs" and "a nationally accessible instrument for assessing beginning teaching

performance" have been conducted (Cochran-Smith, Piazza, & Power, 2012, p. 6). The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB) supports standards-based education reform based on the premise that setting high standards and establishing measurable goals can improve individual outcomes in education. However, this system is generally achieved by imposing quotas, sanctions, and incentives as the driving force for school achievement.

Researchers have been involved in vigorous debates as to whether or not NCLB could positively impact schools and students as the designers had expected (Carnoy & Loeb, 2002; Hanushek & Raymond, 2004; Lee, 2008). The negative effects of NCLB have been extensively discussed by the educational researchers. Sahlberg (2010) argues that test-based accountability has driven schools and teachers to pay too much attention to "predetermined knowledge standards" to improve students' academic performance (p. 45). To the teachers, the test-based accountability system has exerted pressure on them to such a large extent that they have to struggle to achieve the standard at a cost of sacrificing the original educational good (Valenzuela, 2005). Teachers are treated unfairly when they are penalized for their students' low performances that may have resulted from unbalanced educational resources for different demographic communities (Sunderman, Tracey, Kim, & Orfield, 2004). Based on the defects of NCLB system, Mintrop and Sunderman (2009) assert that in terms of practical results, quotas-and-sanctions-based accountability, as a whole, leaves little chance for excellent school and student performance.

Professional approach to teacher accountability

In the United States, the empirical study on teaching practice as a profession has long been carried out (Hextall, Cribb, Gewirtz, Mahony, & Troman, 2007). Dale

(1989) indicates that teaching has gradually gained professional standing similar to other well-established professions such as medicine and law. The reforms have required teachers to be held accountable for classroom curriculum and tests (Apple, 1986). In the United Kingdom, teachers' professional accountability is regulated through the establishment of a professional organization — the General Teaching Council for England (GTCE). In a GTCE commentary, Pollard (2010) defines teaching as "a professional activity underpinned by qualifications, standards and accountabilities" (p.4)

Levitt, Janta, and Wegrich (2008) define professional accountability as professionals' performance that conforms to "standards and codes of conduct checked by professional peers, through their institutions" (p. 7). In the process of professional accountability, professionals (teachers) are the actors, while the institutions offer the stages and performance rules. In reality, qualified teachers set the foundation of high-performance schools, and the improvement of teachers' professional knowledge and skills is one of the most rational and effective methods to achieve educational targets.

Sachs (2003) points out that teaching with high professional standards is widely accepted, and the public believes that teachers' professional expertise leads to excellence of students and schools. Therefore, teachers' professionalization cannot be measured without having a standard against which it can be measured. Hudson (2009) argues that there must be "reliable instruments and measures that can adequately determine the achievement of teaching standards" (p. 70). In the UK, a framework of teacher professional standards has been set for professional development and learning (United Kingdom Department for Education, 2011). In Australia, the *National Professional Standards for Teachers* was released in 2011. The purpose of this

document is to provide professional guidance to leaning and practice, promote teacher improvement, and enhance public recognition of the profession. Although the teacher professional standards framework has been widely accepted, "a fuller teacher involvement and ownership of these standards" are necessary (Tuinamuana, 2011, p. 76), which indicates that teachers' overall understanding and full implementation of the preset standards help them to be qualified in terms of professionalization.

This professional approach belongs to internal accountability. Santoro (2011) categorizes it into two dimensions: an intellectual dimension which Leithwood (2005) calls "classroom instructional practices" (p. 24) dimension and a moral dimension.

Classroom instructional dimension

Teachers' professional development plays a key role in improving student academic achievement (Corcoran, Shields, & Zucker, 1998; Darling-Hammond & Youngs, 2002; Little, 1993; Tuinamuana, 2011), and "schools require teachers who are professionally trained" (Paine & Fang, 2006, p. 280). For the sake of better student success, in the 1990s, the Western countries started a research wave dealing with the connections between teacher professional development and student achievement. In spite of the long existing demands, quality programs for teacher professional development are still lacking (Yoon, Duncan, Lee, Scarloss, & Shapley, 2007).

As a part of teacher professional accountability, class instructional practice is generally measured by three elements: teachers' professional knowledge, teaching performance, and student achievement. Youn et al. (2007) came to a conclusion about how the above three elements develop and eventually achieve student success through the following steps: "First, professional development enhances teacher knowledge and

skills. Second, better knowledge and skills improve classroom teaching. Third, improved teaching raises student achievement" (p. 4).

With regard to enhancing knowledge and skills, teacher professional development should be constructed on the basis of a solid theory combining schedule and conduct details, and a practical theory of teacher knowledge enhancement (Richardson & Placier, 2001). And, at the same time, quality curricula and instructional methods must be developed (Cohen, Raudenbush, & Ball, 2002; Hiebert & Grouws, 2007).

In the past three decades, a myriad of studies have focused on effective classroom teaching. Edison (1990) emphasizes ways to improve new and inexperienced teachers' classroom teaching effectiveness. He concludes that "a positive attitude, high level of motivation, and willingness to reflect on one's teaching" will help new teachers with "both self-confidence and skill" (p. 24). Walls (1999) introduces the "Four Aces of Effective Teaching" which include outcomes, clarity, engagement, and enthusiasm. This system probes the inner connections between teachers teaching and students learning.

As the teaching approach changes "from a teacher-led mode of teaching and learning to more child-initiated approaches" (Mauigoa-Tekene, 2006, p. 12), difference has happened to the inner connections between teachers' teaching and students' learning. Mauigoa-Tekene indicates that in the changing classroom contexts, teachers' questioning skills are more important than simply answering in view of the development of students' cognitive abilities. The world now has entered an era of information technology, and information technology is concerned with every aspect of human life. A study conducted in 30 European countries looked at the value of

implementing information technology in education, with the result that information technology "increased teacher skills, increased educational quality" (Hansson, 2006, p. 553). The study has showed that in the technology-based society, teachers' abilities to use modern technology, such as multi-media and the internet as teachers' aids will enhance teachers' teaching effectiveness.

Moral dimension

On Learning (Xueji) in the Book of Rites (Liji)¹, the earliest literature about education in China that goes back to two thousand years ago, argues that teachers must cultivate their moral and professional development, so that they can achieve teaching success, and subsequently obtain social respect. When schools were first established in the United States, one of the goals was to "teach moral virtues", and ensure that teachers would be "morally upright individuals who displayed good character, ..., and to adhere to professional codes of conduct" (Lumpkin, 2008, p. 45). After studying a myriad of literature, Buzzelli and Johnston (2001) conclude that "Teachers are moral agents, and education as a whole, and thus classroom interaction in particular, is fundamentally and inevitably moral in nature" (p. 876). Day (1999) also describes teaching through a view of professional development as a process that teachers, by their own or together with their peers, perceive and conduct their mission for moral purposes.

The moral dimension of teacher accountability derives from teachers' beliefs in the good of their career and personal efforts. In addition to benefiting society, moral accountability also secures personal satisfaction for teachers as well as promotes

^{1.} The Book of Rites (Liji) is a collection of texts describing the social forms, administration, and ceremonial rites of the Zhou dynasty (1046-256 BC) of China.

development of the profession. Spiritual satisfaction supports teachers to do good (Freedman & Appleman, 2008; Margolis & Deuel, 2009; Ng & Peter, 2010). Hansen (2001, cited in Santoro, 2011) believes that the teaching practice of those who commit to moral accountability is a mission filled with responsibility to students and moral obligation to themselves. Other researchers conclude that teaching is a career combining the elements of morality, values, and professional practice (Carr, 2006; Jackson, 1992; Richardson & Fenstermacher, 2001). On the other hand, altruism and spiritual rewards have explained teachers' moral accountability (Crocco & Costigan, 2007). Santoro (2011) observes that quite a number of teachers in different countries have made great achievement in teaching regardless of comparatively low income and tough life and work conditions.

Nevertheless, a teacher's moral accountability does not always stay at the same level. Santoro indicates that when teachers' situations change in a negative direction, the teaching practice may experience a shift from tolerance to burnout. Recent studies have shown that NCLB has over extracted teachers' personal identity, professional creativity, and enthusiasm to professional development, thus leading to the reality that "many teachers are leaving the profession because the ideals that brought them to teaching are fast disappearing." (Nieto, 2009, p. 13)

In view of the professional ethical conflicts teachers have experienced,

Fenstermacher and Richardson (2005) put forward the idea of "four axes of quality
teaching" which includes "good teaching (significant teacher influence), opportunity
to teach and learn (partial-to-limited teacher influence), supportive social
surroundings (limited teacher influence), and willingness and effort of the learner
(partial-to-limited teacher influence)" (p. 207). Good teaching may not always be

achieved when one or some of the four elements are absent. Therefore, good teaching is the result of the "interactions between the context for teaching and the practices of the teacher" (p. 207).

Although good teaching is a result of the interaction of many elements, the role of teachers' professional ethics in good teaching cannot be neglected. How can teachers obtain and sustain professional ethics is a big question. Strike (1990) believes that professional ethics is "thought of as a product of training" (p. 47). By reviewing the literature, Bullough (2010) points out that teachers can learn a good deal about "the essential values internal to the practice of teaching" (p. 24). This knowledge can be acquired through some programs or "a set of moral concepts that are highly important to the practice of teaching and that are unlikely currently to be adequately represented in the curriculum of teachers" (Strike, p. 48).

Managerial approach to teacher accountability

Since an educational system accounts for the welfare of students, teachers are in the right position to be held accountable for best classroom instructional practices for students. In most cases, the commonsense view ignores "the complexity of teachers' work and the strongly contextualized situations" (Winter, 2000, p. 155) where moral, social and political factors interact in teachers' daily work life. In view of this issue, Wise and Leibbrand (2003) formulate an accountability model which, in addition to the teacher's professional approach, includes the subject of accountability, such as what is expected by governmental and educational organizations. In contrast to a professional approach to teacher accountability, the accountability system related to the governmental and educational organizations can be called a managerial approach to teacher accountability.

The Education Reform Act 1988 (ERA) made England a driving force in involving "managerialist forms of control in education" (Hextall, Cribb, Gewirtz, Mahony, & Troman, 2007, p. 38). The managerial approach in education focuses on "efficiency and effectiveness" (Tuinamuana, 2011, p. 77) of teachers' work, through "introducing more rational procedures for doing business" (Leithwood, 2005, p. 26).

Vernaza (2012) shows that most teachers of the United States welcome accountability and acknowledge its importance for the students, teachers, and schools, but they oppose the high-stakes tests as they doubt the accuracy of measuring students' academic performance. A myriad of controversy has been reported about the high-stakes tests. Many teachers complained that their teaching was framed by the so-called standards, such as standardized tests, thus resulting in the fact that the predecided rituals have taken over creative work (Comber & Nixon, 2009). Anderson (2004) hopes to appeal to the public that managerialism is "counterproductive, ineffective and uneconomic" (p. 198).

Whether the teacher accountability management system is effective or not in improving teachers' teaching performance and students' academic achievement has not yet been proved (Elkins & Elliott, 2004), because external accountability has not been proven effective for long-term educational improvement (Louis, Febey, & Schroeder, 2005). In spite of denouncement from some educational researchers, the twisting economic and political forces still maintain the sanction-based accountability system. As Mintrop and Sunderman (2009) point out that different interest groups benefit politically or economically from the structure, thus leading to its long persistence.

Teacher Accountability in China

China has the earliest exposition of teacher accountability in the world, which can be traced back two thousand years. *On Learning (Xueji)* in the *Book of Rites (Liji)* described the moral and professional cultivation of teachers.

In recent years, influenced by world-wide educational reform, and to keep pace with its economic growth and social transformation, China has conducted a few education reforms in the past three decades, which all touched upon the field of teacher accountability.

Chinese educational reforms have shown their characteristics in each different period. In their study, Zhou and Reed (2005) point out that the 1980s was a period of recovery of the Chinese education system. The Teacher Law, first launched in 1993, regulated qualifications of teachers at different levels. The period of the 1990s "targeted issues of quality assurance and improving teacher quality" (Zhou & Reed, 2005, p. 280). In 2004, the "2003-2007 New Action Plan to Revitalize Education" was issued, which drafted "standards for accreditation of teacher education institutions, curriculum of teacher education and quality of teacher education" (Zhu & Han, 2006, p. 70). The latest *Outline of the National Program for Long- and Medium-Term Educational Reform and Development 2010-2020* (Ministry of Education of China, 2010) highlights teacher qualifications and specified strict teacher entry qualifications in detail. Among a series of regulations, the Outline stresses that creating a highly qualified teaching staff, enhancing teachers' professional capability, and improving teaching management are the measures of a quality education system. The Outline depicts the new requirement for the teachers: they are "formally, publicly

accountable for the quality of their teaching... and also accountable for their engagement in professional development" (Paine & Fang, 2006, p. 284).

However, things do not always happen as expected. "Societal and social changes put the teachers in a situation that makes certain responses unavoidable" (Carlgren & Klette, 2008, p. 131). The reality in China is that the education systems, from primary schools to universities, have long been strictly under the direction of the central government, requiring teachers to "satisfactorily meet regular inspection and evaluation" (Paine & Fang, p. 281). For the Chinese education system as a whole, accountability means a kind of control over schools, teachers, and students (Brown, Hui, Yu, & Kennedy, 2011).

As an example, senior middle school students who wish to study at college or university must take the National College Entrance Examination (NCEE, generally known as Gaokao), an academic examination held annually in China to select academically qualified students. The NCEE was created in 1952, but was canceled in 1966 because of the Cultural Revolution. It was restored in 1977 after the Cultural Revolution. Since 1978, the examination has been designed and conducted uniformly under the leadership of the Ministry of Education. During this period, several reforms happened, for example, a few regions, such as Guangdong and Shanghai, obtained access to independent enrollment, and until 2015, a total of 16 provinces and municipalities have been conferred the independent proposition. Even though the NCEE is no longer dominated by the Ministry of Education across the country, it is still uniformly directed by each province or the direct-controlled municipalities.

The disadvantages of the NCEE have been documented. As the only criterion for college or university admission, schools, teachers, and students themselves have to

move with the NCEE "baton". Under such a situation, teachers' accountability is only reflected as their effort and achievement improves students' academic success.

Hurley and Lu (2015) conducted a comparative study of teacher accountability between teachers in China and Canada, and found that Chinese teachers hold themselves highly accountable for internal (professional) accountability. Regarding inner moral standards and professional ethics, Chinese teachers also hold themselves highly accountable. However, compared with Canadian teachers, Chinese teachers perceive themselves to be less accountable both for external or internal accountability.

Teacher accountability is reported to be practiced in a different way among different disciplines (Louis, Febey, & Schroeder, 2005). A marked example is the College English Test (CET) as mentioned in Part 1. The main concern of college English teachers is to help their students pass the CET. Xiao (2014) argues that CET is "a large-scale high stakes education test" (p. 1171). In order to promote students' CET scores, the English teachers employ the wide-spread "test-taking strategy" which is "test-oriented rather than focusing on language learning and use" (Xiao, p. 1171). To a certain extent, Chinese college English teachers accountability can be measured through their students' CET passing rate.

In terms of teachers' professional development, Paine and Fang (2006) argue that "Two features of longstanding approaches to teacher learning in China stand out in this regard: the role of curriculum materials to frame teacher attention and hence their learning, and the importance of collegial interaction" (p. 285). Teaching materials such as textbooks and reference books are the main sources used by Chinese teachers for professional development (Ma, 1999).

Although foreign ESL teachers have made a great contribution to Chinese college students' English learning, disciplinary construction and cultural exchanges, very little research regarding their perceptions of teacher accountability was shown in the literature. Therefore, it is necessary to explore the perceptions of foreign ESL teachers towards accountability, and what is the difference of perceptions teacher accountability between foreign ESL teachers in China and Chinese local ESL teachers.

The following chapter introduced the methodology of the present study.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

Research Design

The present research investigated values and attitudes of foreign ESL teachers at Chinese schools towards teacher accountability through a comparison between Chinese ESL Teachers and foreign ESL teachers in China. A cross-sectional survey design was conducted.

Creswell (2012) indicates that a cross-sectional survey design has been generally accepted to be beneficial to investigate attitude assessments towards a current practice, and that it is suitable to compare "two or more educational groups in terms of attitudes, beliefs, opinions, or practice. (p. 378). On the other hand, McMillan and Schumacher (2010) contend that a cross-sectional design is associated with enhance reliability and validity in the collection of data. Therefore, a cross-sectional survey design fit this research.

Data Collection

After having received full ethics clearance from the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research of Memorial University, an on-line survey (Appendix A) was conducted in June and July 2015. Participants were Chinese local English teachers and foreign ESL teachers in China. The Chinese local ESL teachers were from the schools of Hebei Province, Jiangsu Province, Shaanxi Province, Shandong Province, and Tianjin Municipality. The foreign ESL teachers were recruited through Chinese Cultural Exchange Program of Drake University, USA. The Drake Chinese

Cultural Exchange Program dispatches ESL teachers to China's universities, colleges, and high schools in different regions each year. Some of the foreign ESL teachers were recruited through China Foreign Teachers Union. The foreign ESL teachers were from different countries, and currently teaching in different provinces in China.

The Consortium for Cross Cultural Research in Education (CCCRE) is an organization which has been concentrating on studies of international education based on a social and cultural view in the past few decades. Recently, the CCCRE has started a study of teacher accountability across ten countries using the Rosenblatt Questionnaire to collect data. This on-line survey was extracted from one of the CCCRE's surveys whose validity and reliability has been examined worldwide (Rosenblatt, 2013). The present study was supervised by Dr. Noel Hurley, who is a member of the CCCRE.

Two hundred participants were expected, and eventually 126 valid questionnaires were retained for the final analysis, with 45 (36%) foreign ESL teachers and 81 (64%) Chinese ESLteachers. In order to investigate external and internal accountability of foreign ESL teachers, data from both groups were compared.

Among the foreign ESL teachers, 29 (64%) were male, and 16 (36%) were female; Forty three (96%) foreign ESL teachers were teaching in China's urban area, and two (4%) of them were teaching in a suburban area. Forty one (91%) of respondents had more than one year of teaching experience in China. All the foreign ESL teachers taught at universities/colleges. Thirty two (73%) were from humanity-oriented schools, seven (16%) were from science, mathematics, and technology schools, three were from arts and sport schools, two were from other type of schools,

and one missed this item. None of them held any leadership position. The school sizes ranged from 5,000 to 51,000 students.

Among the Chinese ESL teachers, 29 (36%) were male, 50 (62%) were female, one teacher was self-recognized as "other" in terms of gender, and one did not respond to this item. All the Chinese ESL teachers were from universities/colleges, and had teaching experience of more than one year. Sixty-six (81%) taught in urban areas, and 15 (19%) in suburban areas. Seventy-eight (96%) were from humanities oriented schools, and three (4%) recognized their schools as "other". Three (4%) held a leadership position, and others were all teachers. All the participants taught at schools with more than 5,000 students.

Variables

Independent variables

For the demographic questions, eight independent variables: gender, age, year of teaching in China, teaching area, school location, school size, school leadership role, and school level were asked.

Leadership position was coded as vice-principal, headmaster, subject-area coordinator, in addition to teaching. Teaching areas was coded as humanities/languages/social studies, science/mathematics/technology, arts/sport, and other. Since the location of school may influence teachers' life style and teaching behaviors, school location was coded as urban, suburban, and rural areas.

Dependent Variables

The on-line survey was conducted using a 40-point questionnaire to acquire information of teacher accountability of foreign ESL teachers in China and Chinese local ESL teachers through examining four constructs: teachers' perceptions of

external accountability with regard to outside expectations (11 questions), teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to school management (15 questions), teachers' perceptions of internal accountability with regard to professional duty (7 questions), and teachers' perceptions of feelings about work (7 questions).

SPSS 22 was used to analyze the data.

Table 3.1 showed the overall Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficients. The coefficient of external accountability (bureaucratic) was .807; the coefficient of schools administrator behaviours and activities was .795; the coefficient of professional duty was .858; and the coefficient of feelings about work was .830.

Nunnally (1978) indicates that when Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient is higher than .70, a scale is reliable, and the higher the coefficient is, the higher the reliability is. The scales measured in the present study were acceptable for the coefficients were all greater than .70.

The first construct measured teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to outside expectations, which consisted of 11 questions as follow:

- 1) Make sure your students achieve high achievement scores
- 2) Meet expected standards
- 3) Be accountable for your students' achievements
- 4) Report to school leadership on the way you perform your work
- 5) Report to other teachers on the way you perform your work
- 6) Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership
- 7) Allow your work in class to be transparent to other teachers
- 8) Be evaluated on the basis of your work achievements
- 9) Change your work according to feedback you get

- 10) Be held accountable when your work in the classroom does not meet expectations
- 11) Be acknowledged for the success of your classes.

Teachers were asked to answer on a 5-point scale that ranged from low to high, which were *very little extent*, *little extent*, *neither little nor large*, *large extent*, and *very large extent*. In this section, the coefficient was .807, higher than .70, which meant that the scales of external accountability with regard to outside expectations were reliable.

The second construct measured teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to school management. This section was made up of 15 questions as follow:

- 1) The way I teach in my class is determined for the most part by myself
- 2) The contents taught in my class are those that I select myself
- 3) My teaching focuses on goals and objectives that I select myself
- 4) I select myself the teaching materials that I use with my students
- 5) I am free to be creative in my teaching approach
- 6) My job does not allow for much discretion on my part
- 7) In my class I have little control over how classroom space is used
- 8) My school administration strongly support my goals and values
- 9) My school administration values my contribution
- 10) My school administration takes pride in my accomplishments at work
- 11) My school administration really cares about me
- 12) If given the chance, my school administration would take unfair advantage of me

- 13) My school administration is willing to help me when I need a special favor
- 14) If I asked, my school administration would change my working conditions if at all possible
- 15) My school administration would ignore any complaint from me.

Teachers were asked to answer on a 5-point scale that ranged from *very little* extent, little extent, neither little nor much, much extent, to very much extent. The coefficient of an overall reliability was .795, which indicated that the scales were reliable.

The third construct measured teachers' perceptions of internal accountability with regard to professional duty, which consisted of 7 questions as follow:

- 1) Achieve professional goals
- 2) Develop professionally (training sessions, workshops, conferences, etc.)
- 3) Learn from the work of outstanding colleagues
- 4) Be responsible for teaching in the best possible way
- 5) Be responsible for using professional knowledge in your work
- 6) Be accountable to your own inner moral standards
- 7) Be accountable to professional ethics

Teachers were asked to answer on a 5-point scale that ranged from low to high, which were *very little extent, little extent, neither little nor large, large extent,* and *very large extent.* In this section, the coefficient was .858, which was higher than .70, and this meant that the scales of teachers' duty on their work were highly reliable.

The fourth construct measured teachers' perceptions of internal accountability with regard to feeling about work. This construct was made up of 7 questions as follow:

- 1) Strive to achieve set goals
- 2) Report on your performance regarding students' academic achievements
- 3) Report on performance regarding curriculum coverage
- 4) Report on performance regarding social climate (e.g., student behaviour, discipline) in class
- 5) Show transparency in your work
- 6) Get formal evaluations on the results of your work
- 7) Get feedback on your teaching

Teachers were asked to answer on a 5-point scale that ranged from *strongly disagree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree, agree, to strongly agree.* The coefficient of an overall reliability was .830, which indicated that the scales were highly reliable.

Table 3.1
Reliability Coefficients: ESL Teacher's Accountability Variables

Constructs	Number of Items	Cronbach's Alpha
External Accountability with Regard to Outside Expectations	11	0.807
External Accountability with Regard to School Management	15	0.830
Internal Accountability with Regard to Professional Duty	7	0.858
Internal Accountability with Regard to Feelings about Work	7	0.795

Table 3.2 demonstrates statistics of the dependent variables. The skewness of the constructs ranges between -1 and 1, which indicates that the constructs are normal, and the data are reliable.

Table 3.2 Statistics of Variables of ESL Teachers' Accountability

Constructs	Mean	Std. Deviation	Min-Max	Skewness
External Accountability with Regard to Outside Expectations	3.38	0.60	1-5	-0.23
External Accountability with Regard to School Management	3.10	0.49	1-5	0.33
Internal Accountability with Regard to Professional Duty	4.15	0.67	1-5	-0.72
Internal Accountability with Regard to Feelings about Work	3.70	0.65	1-5	0.63

In the following chapter, data were presented using a comparison of the means. Those findings that produced significant differences (*p*) of the scales measuring the perceptions towards external accountability and internal accountability between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers were presented.

Limitations

Among the total 126 participants, 96% of the foreign teachers and 81% of the Chinese teachers were from the urban areas. All the foreign teachers and Chinese teachers were university/college teachers. No foreign teacher held a leadership position, and only three Chinese teachers had school leadership titles.

The present study investigated an overall understanding of foreign ESL teachers' perceptions of external accountability and internal accountability. Differences of teacher accountability influenced by the independent variables, such as gender, age, teaching area, school location, school size, school leadership role, the years of teaching in China, and school level were less important in this study than they would be in a study of teachers at the primary and secondary school levels.

CHAPTER FOUR

PRESENTATION OF DATA

Introduction

In this section, data were presented. An analysis was made by using four constructs, which covered teachers' perceptions towards (1) external accountability (outside expectations); (2) external accountability (school management); (3) internal accountability (professional duty) and; (4) internal accountability (feelings about work). A comparison of the data between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers was made. The two research questions were addressed:

- 1. What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards external accountability? How is it different from that of Chinese ESL teachers?
- 2. What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability? How is it different from that of Chinese ESL teachers?

Data were presented with tables which contained the means, standard deviations, confidence interval, and significant difference (*p*) of foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers. These items were examined to measure the different perceptions of the two groups towards external accountability and internal accountability.

The means suggested the collective extent of accountability to which each group perceived it was held. For the three constructs: external accountability (outside expectations), internal accountability (professional duty), and internal accountability (feelings about work), when the mean was greater than 3, the teachers were considered to be accountable for the given construct; when the mean was less than 3,

the teachers perceived low accountability. For the construct of external accountability (school management), when the mean was less than 3, the teachers were considered to be accountable for the construct.

The p value was examined at a level of 0.05. When the value was greater than 0.05, there was no significant difference towards the given construct between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers; when the value was less than 0.05, there was significant difference between the two groups.

Table 4.1 showed the overall statistics of the four constructs and comparison between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers in terms of perceptions of external accountability and internal accountability. The means, the standard deviation, the confidence interval, and the p values were presented.

Table 4.1 Overall Statistics of the Constructs and Comparison between Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers

Construt	Group	Mean	Std. Deviation	C. I.	P
External Accountability (O.E.)	Foreign Chinese	3.65 3.24	0.66 0.52	95%: 0.20 - 0.63 95%: 0.19 - 0.65	0.000
External Accountability (S. M.)	Foreign Chinese	3.45 2.88	0.44 0.38	95%: 0.41 - 0.72 95%: 0.41 - 0.73	0.000
Internal Accountability (P. D.)	Foreign Chinese	4.28 4.08	0.66 0.66	95%: -0.50 - 0.45 95%: -0.50 - 0.45	0.116
Internal Accountability (F. W.)	Foreign Chinese	4.00 3.54	0.61 0.61	95%: 0.23 - 0.69 95%: 0.23 - 0.69	0.000

The overall statistics showed that foreign ESL teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to both professional duty and feelings about work, since the overall means of the two constructs were equal to or greater than 4. Foreign ESL teachers perceived that they were held accountable for external accountability with regard to outside expectations too, but they were not held accountable for external accountability with regard to school management.

Chinese ESL teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability in the professional duty and feelings of work constructs, at a comparatively lower level than foreign ESL teachers. They were held accountable for external accountability with regard to outside expectations and school management too.

The p value of professional duty was 0.116 (>.05), which indicated that foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers had no significant difference in this construct, that is, both foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers were highly accountable for professional duty. The p values of the other three scales were all 0.000 (<.05), which indicated that there existed different perceptions of external accountability, feelings about work, and attitude towards school administration between the two groups of teachers.

The data about the individual questions in each construct of foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers were analyzed in the following sections. A comparison of the data between the two groups of teachers was conducted.

Data Presentation and Interpretation of Research Question One

Research Question One is: What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards external accountability? How are they different from those of Chinese teachers?

The question was addressed through presenting and analyzing the data in two groups of questionnaires: 11 questions about teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to outside expectations and 15 questions about teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to school management.

Teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to outside expectations

Teacher accountability consists of two dimensions — external accountability and internal accountability (Rosenblatt, 2013). Fullan, Callardo, & Hargreaves (2015) indicate "External accountability is when system leaders reassure the public through transparency, monitoring and selective intervention that their system is performing in line with societal expectations and requirements" (p. 4). In the climate of schools, external accountability reflects certain behaviours stipulated by the school bureaucracy, such as regulating one's behaviours within an organizational boundary, then assessing and reporting. In this study, eleven questions were designed and conducted to examine teachers' perceptions of external accountability.

Table 4.2 showed statistics of teachers' perceptions of external accountability with regard to outside expectations. In the foreign ESL teacher group, among the eleven questions, the mean of Question 9 (Change your work according to feedback you receive) was greater than 4, and the means of Question 2 (Meet expected standards) and Question 6 (Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership) were both fairly close to 4. The high means indicated that foreign ESL

teachers held themselves highly accountable for meeting expected standards, changing their work according to feedback, and work transparency to school leadership.

In this section, the means of ten questions were greater than 3 respectively. This meant that foreign ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable for students' scores and academic achievement; they would like their work to be transparent to school leadership, and would be comfortable to report their work performance to school leadership. The teachers acknowledged that their work should be evaluated on the basis of their work and the success of their classes. However, the mean of Question 5 (report to other teachers on the way you perform your work) was lower than 3, which indicated that foreign ESL teachers did not feel comfortable or necessary to report their ways of teaching to their peer teachers.

Table 4.2
Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to Outside Expectations (N=126)
Question: In your work as a teacher, to what extent do you feel that it is your responsibility to?

Question	Group	Mean	S.D.	C.I.	P
1. Make sure your students achieve	Foreign	3.71	1.01	95%: 3.15 - 4.00	0.122
high achievement scores	Chinese	3.42	1.04	95%: 3.19 - 3.64	0.133
2. Meet expected standards	Foreign	3.97	0.91	95%: 3.71 - 4.24	0.207
2. Weet expected standards	Chinese	3.78	0.80	95%: 3.60 - 3.95	0.207
3. Be accountable for your students	Foreign	3.53	1.07	95%: 3.21 - 3.84	0.840
achievements	Chinese	3.56	0.82	95%: 3.38 - 3.74	0.040
4. Report to school leadership on the	Foreign	3.44	1.11	95%: 3.11 - 3.77	0.000*
way you perform your work	Chinese	2.54	1.01	95%: 2.32 - 2.76	0.000
5. Report to other teachers on the way	Foreign	2.66	1.02	95%: 2.36 - 2.96	0.045*
you perform your work	Chinese	2.28	0.99	95%: 2.06 - 2.50	0.043
6. Allow your work in class to be	Foreign	3.90	0.96	95%: 3.62 - 4.19	0.000*
transparent to school leadership	Chinese	2.86	0.99	95%: 2.64 - 3.08	0.000*
7. Allow your work in class to be	Foreign	3.66	1.08	95%: 3.34 - 3.98	0.003*
transparent to other teachers	Chinese	3.06	1.04	95%: 2.83 - 3.28	0.003**
8. Be evaluated on the basis of your	Foreign	3.71	1.25	95%: 3.34 - 4.07	0.149
work achievement	Chinese	3.40	1.04	95%: 3.18 - 3.63	0.149
9. Change your work according to	Foreign	4.17	0.71	95%: 3.96 - 4.38	0.003*
feedback you get	Chinese	3.67	0.98	95%: 3.46 - 3.89	0.003**
10. Be held accountable when your	Foreign	3.88	0.93	95%: 3.61 - 4.16	
work in the classroom does not meet	Chinese	3.40	0.93	95%: 3.20 - 3.61	0.006*
expectations					
11. Be acknowledged for the success	Foreign	3.61	1.26	95%: 3.24 - 3.98	0.935
of your classes	Chinese	3.63	0.90	95%: 3.43 - 3.82	

Note: p values less than .05 are marked with *.

For Chinese local ESL teacher group, the mean of eight questions (Question 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11) were greater than 3, which indicated that Chinese teachers held themselves accountable for the students' high achievement scores, meeting expected standards, changing their work according to feedback, work transparency to other teachers, being evaluated on a basis of work achievement, and being acknowledged for the success of their classes.

However, the means of three Questions (Question 4, 5 and 6) were lower than 3. The result indicated that Chinese ESL teachers did not feel comfortable or felt that it was necessary to report their ways of teaching either to school leadership or to other teachers. Similarly, Chinese ESL teachers did not feel comfortable to have their work in class to be transparent to school leadership either.

According to the data, the *p* values of Question 1, 2, 3, 8, and 11 were greater than .05, which indicated that there were no significant differences for the two groups of teachers in helping students achieve high scores, meeting expected standards, being accountable for students achievements, being evaluated on the basis of work achievement, and being acknowledged for the success of classes.

However, the *p* values of Question 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 10 were less than .05, which showed that there were significant differences between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers in the aspects of reporting work performance to school leadership, reporting work performance to other teachers, allowing work in class to be transparent to school leadership, allowing work in class to be transparent to other teachers, changing work according to feedback, and being held accountable for not meeting work expectations.

Comparison of perceptions towards external accountability with regard to outside expectations between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers

As shown in Table 4.2, a comparison of means of perceptions towards external accountability with regard to outside expectations between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers was made. The means of foreign ESL teachers of all the questions except Question 11 (Be acknowledged for the success of your classes) were greater than the means of Chinese ESL teachers. That meant foreign ESL teachers held themselves more highly accountable towards their responsibility, as a whole, than Chinese ESL teachers. The biggest gaps existed in Question 4 (Report to school leadership on the way you perform your work) and Question 6 (Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership), and this showed that foreign ESL teachers felt much more comfortable working with the school administrators than Chinese teachers, and they held more positive attitudes towards school leadership.

Table 4.3 showed the percentage distribution of the two groups of teachers who chose "large extent" and "very large extent" regarding external accountability (outside expectations). The most obvious difference between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers was in Question 6 (Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership). Foreign ESL teachers who chose large extent and very large extent accounted for 80%, much higher than 31% of Chinese ESL teachers. The least difference (1%) happened to Question 1 (Make sure your students achieve high achievement scores.), with 56% of foreign ESL teachers and 57% of Chinese local ESL teachers selecting large extent or very large extent. Foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers both shared low attitudes towards Question 5 (Report to other

teachers on the way you perform your work), for 20% and 13% selected large extent or very large extent respectively.

Table 4.3
Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers'
Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to Outside Expectations

Question	Group	Percentage of Teachers Who Chose Large extent & Very Large extent
1. Make sure your students achieve high achievement scores	Foreign Chinese	56 57
2. Meet expected standards	Foreign Chinese	82 69
3. Be accountable for your students achievements	Foreign Chinese	56 60
4. Report to school leadership on the way you perform your work	Foreign Chinese	47 21
5. Report to other teachers on the way you perform your work	Foreign Chinese	20 13
6. Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership	Foreign Chinese	80 31
7. Allow your work in class to be transparent to other teachers	Foreign Chinese	64 44
8. Be evaluated on the basis of your work achievement	Foreign Chinese	73 60
9. Change your work according to feedback you get	Foreign Chinese	86 73
10. Be held accountable when your work in the classroom does not meet expectations	Foreign Chinese	78 55
11. Be acknowledged for the success of your classes	Foreign Chinese	63 72

Teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school management

As the management unit and service provider, school administration has a remarkable influence on teachers' class performance (Robertson-Kraft, 2012), and therefore, it is necessary to examine teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school management.

Table 4.4 showed the statistics for foreign ESL teacher and Chinese local ESL teachers' perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school management. For foreign ESL teachers, of all the 15 questions, the means of three questions were less than 3, which were Question 6 (My job does not allow for much discretion on my part), Question 12 (If given the chance, my school administration would take unfair advantage of me), and Question 15 (My school administration would ignore any complaint from me). The results indicated that foreign ESL teachers perceived that they were given much discretion on their job, and the school administration treated them in a fair way, and would consider their complaints about work.

The means of the other 12 questions were greater than 3, among which, the means of Question 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 were equal to or greater than 4. The results indicated that foreign ESL teachers had too much freedom in teaching. In other words, foreign ESL teachers were not held externally accountable for their way of teaching, their teaching materials, class contents, and teaching approach.

Table 4.4
Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to School Management (N=126)
Question: To what extent do you believe your work should include the following behaviours and activities?

Question	Group	Mean	S. D.	C. I.	P
1. The way I teach in my class is determined for the most part by myself	Foreign Chinese	4.25 3.50	0.89 1.09	95%: 3.98-4.51 95%: 3.26-3.73	0.000*
2. The contents taught in my class are those that I select myself	Foreign Chinese	4.06 3.00	0.93 1.09	95%: 3.79 - 4.34 95%: 2.75 - 3.24	0.000*
3. My teaching focuses on goals and objectives that I select myself	Foreign Chinese	4.00 3.03	1.00 1.10	95%: 1.99 - 2.62 95%: 2.79 - 3.28	0.000*
4. I myself select the teaching materials that I use with my students	Foreign Chinese	4.00 2.96	1.04 1.18	95%: 3.69 - 4.30 95%: 2.70 - 3.22	0.000*
5. I am free to be creative in my teaching approach	Foreign Chinese	4.57 3.82	0.65 0.99	95%: 4.38 - 4.77 95%: 3.60 - 4.04	0.000*
6. My job does not allow for much discretion on my part	Foreign Chinese	2.35 2.97	1.35 0.96	95%: 1.96 - 2.75 95%: 2.76 - 3.18	0.004*
7. In my class I have little control over how classroom space is used	Foreign Chinese	3.24 2.97	1.36 1.26	95%: 2.84 - 3.64 95%: 2.69 - 3.25	0.272
8. My school administration strongly support my goals and values	Foreign Chinese	3.57 3.00	1.01 0.80	95%: 3.28 - 3.87 95%: 2.82 - 3.17	0.001*
9. My school administration values my contribution	Foreign Chinese	3.63 3.03	1.03 0.98	95%: 3.33 - 3.94 95%: 2.82 - 3.25	0.002*
10 My school administration takes pride in my accomplishments at work	Foreign Chinese	3.53 3.00	1.07 1.03	95%: 3.21 - 3.84 95%: 2.77 - 3.22	0.007*
11. My school administration really cares about me	Foreign Chinese	3.60 2.53	1.05 0.91	95%: 3.29 - 3.90 95%: 2.33 - 2.73	0.000*
12. If given the chance, my school administration would take unfair advantage of me	Foreign Chinese	2.37 3.01	1.15 0.89	95%: 2.04 - 2.71 95%: 2.81 - 3.20	0.001*

13. My school administration is willing to help me when I need a special favor	Foreign Chinese	3.73 2.80	0.98 0.92	95%: 3.48 - 4.06 95%: 2.59 - 3.00	0.000*
14. Upon my request, my school administration would change my working conditions if at all possible	Foreign Chinese	3.66 2.94	0.90 1.06	95%: 3.40 - 3.93 95%: 2.71 - 3.18	0.000*
15. My school administration would ignore any complaint from me	Foreign Chinese	2.31 2.92	1.08 1.06	95%: 1.99 - 2.62 95%: 2.69 - 3.15	0.003*

Note: *p* values less than .05 are marked with *.

Based on the data, Chinese ESL teachers felt that they had much freedom to choose teaching methods, class content, and teaching goals, since the means of the related questions were greater than 3. They felt that they were free to be creative in their teaching approach (Question 5, Mean = 3.82). In addition, most of Chinese ESL teachers believed that the school administration supported their goals and values (Question 8, Mean = 3), valued their contribution (Question 9, Mean = 3.03), and took pride in their accomplishments at work (Question 10, Mean = 3).

However, the means of Question 11, Question 13, and Question 14 were less than 3, which indicated that Chinese ESL teachers perceived that they did not get much care, help, and request responses from the school administration.

Table 4.5
Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers'
Perceptions towards External Accountability with Regard to School Management

Question	Group	Percentage of Teachers Who Chose Agree & Strongly Agree
1. The way I teach in my class is determined for the most part by myself	Foreign Chinese	80 63
2. The contents taught in my class are those that I select myself	Foreign Chinese	73 44
3. My teaching focuses on goals and objectives that I select myself	Foreign Chinese	76 41
4. I myself select the teaching materials that I use with my students	Foreign Chinese	71 46
5. I am free to be creative in my teaching approach	Foreign Chinese	95 76
6. My job does not allow for much discretion on my part	Foreign Chinese	17 32
7. In my class I have little control over how classroom space is used	Foreign Chinese	48 45
8. My school administration strongly support my goals and values	Foreign Chinese	53 19
9. My school administration values my contribution	Foreign Chinese	63 42
10. My school administration takes pride in my accomplishments at work	Foreign Chinese	55 31
11. My school administration really cares about me	Foreign Chinese	58 10
12. If given the chance, my school administration would take unfair advantage of me	Foreign Chinese	20 27
13. My school administration is willing to help me when I need a special favor	Foreign Chinese	68 20
14. Upon my request, my school administration would change my working conditions if at all possible	Foreign Chinese	56 38
15. My school administration would ignore any complaint from me	Foreign Chinese	15 27

Comparison of perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school management between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers

As shown in Table 4.4, the *p* values of all the 15 questions but Question 7 were less than .05, which indicated the significant differences between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers in the perceptions towards external accountability with regard to school management in most of the scales.

It is clear that foreign ESL teachers had much more freedom in teaching related activities, such as class contents, teaching goals, and teaching material selection.

Chinese ESL teachers were allowed less discretion in the above activities. Foreign ESL teachers showed more positive attitudes towards the treatment of the school administration since they felt that they got much care, help, and contribution recognition from the school administration. In contrast, Chinese ESL teachers perceived that they did not have too much discretion in teaching. On the other hand, Chinese ESL teachers held comparatively negative attitudes towards the school administration in terms of the supports, care, and contribution recognition.

According to Table 4.5, the most obvious difference between the two groups of teachers existed in Question11 and Question 13. In terms of the care from the school administration, 58% of foreign ESL teachers held positive attitudes, in contrast to 10% of Chinese ESL teachers. Similarly, 68% of foreign ESL teachers believed that the school administration was willing to help them when they needed a special favor, however, as low as 20% of Chinese ESL teachers held the same attitudes.

Conclusion for Research Question One

Based on analysis of the data, foreign ESL teachers were partly held accountable for external accountability. In term of teaching expectations, they felt that

they were held highly accountable by the outside society for helping students achieve high scores, meeting expected standards, being accountable for students' achievements, allowing work transparency to school leadership and other teachers, being evaluated according to work achievement, changing work according to feedback, being held accountable when their work did not meet expectations, and being acknowledged for the class success. Chinese ESL teachers perceived that they were held accountable for these aspects too. However, the data showed that foreign ESL teachers were held accountable at a higher level.

On the other hand, foreign ESL teachers perceived that they were not highly held accountable for class teaching activities with regard to school management, since they were allowed too much discretion to decide class contents, teaching goals, and teaching materials by the school administrators. In contrast, Chinese ESL teachers were held highly accountable for these aspects.

Data Presentation and Interpretation of Research Question Two

Research Question 2 is: What are foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability? How is it different from that of Chinese teachers?

The question was addressed through presenting and analyzing the data in two groups of questions: 7 questions of teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to professional duty and 7 questions of teachers' perceptions of feelings about their work.

Teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to professional duty

Fullan et al. (2015) indicate that internal accountability happens when teachers and schools are willing to constantly increase students' achievements on a basis of

professional efforts, and they assert that "the main feature of successful schools was that they built a collaborative culture that combined individual responsibility, collective expectations, and corrective action—that is, internal accountability" (p. 5). It is clear that teachers' internal accountability is playing a fairly important role in education.

In this section, seven questions were concerned about achieving professional goals, professional development, learning from peer colleagues, teaching in the best way, using professional knowledge in work, being accountable to inner moral standards, and being accountable to professional ethics.

As shown in Table 4.6, for foreign ESL teachers, the means of all the questions but Question 2 were greater than 4. The means of Question 4, Question 6, and Question 7 were fairly high (4.57, 4.60, and 4.53). The lowest mean happened to Question 2 (Develop professionally), which was 3.84.

Table 4.6
Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with Regard to Professional Duty (N=126)
Question: In your work as a teacher, to what extent do you feel that it is your duty to?

Question	Group	Mean	S.D.	C.I.	P
1. Achieve professional goals	Foreign	4.04	1.06	95%: 3.73 - 4.35	0.491
	Chinese	3.96	0.83	95%: 3.74 - 4.10	0.491
2. Develop professionally (training sessions, workshops, conferences, etc)	Foreign Chinese	3.84 3.74	1.26 1.01	95%: 3.47 - 4.21 95%: 3.52 - 3.96	0.615
3. Learn from the work of	Foreign	4.08	1.06	95%: 3.77 - 4.39	0.434
outstanding colleagues	Chinese	3.93	1.01	95%: 3.71 - 4.16	0.434
4. Be responsible for teaching in	Foreign	4.57	0.54	95%: 4.41 - 4.73	0.008*
the best possible way	Chinese	4.16	0.95	95%: 3.95 - 4.36	0.008*
5. Be responsible for using professional knowledge in your work	Foreign Chinese	4.28 4.12	0.78 0.73	95%: 4.41 - 4.73 95%: 3.95 - 4.36	0.246
6. Be accountable to your own	Foreign	4.60	0.61	95%: 4.41 - 4.78	0.015*
inner moral standards	Chinese	4.21	0.95	95%: 4.00 - 4.41	0.013
7. Be accountable to	Foreign	4.53	0.70	95%: 4.32 - 4.74	0.524
professional ethics	Chinese	4.44	0.77	95%: 4.27 - 4.61	0.324

Note: p values less than .05 are marked with *.

The results reflected that foreign ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable for teacher internal accountability with regard to professional duty, especially in the aspects of teaching in the best possible way, being accountable to inner moral standards and being accountable for professional ethics.

For the group of Chinese ESL teachers, the means of four questions (Question 4, Question 5, Question 6, and Question 7) out of the total seven were greater than 4. The means of Question 1 and Question 3 are close to 4 (3.92 and 3.93).

The results indicated that Chinese ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to professional duty too, especially in the aspects of teaching in the best possible way, using professional knowledge in work, being accountable to inner moral standards, and being accountable for professional ethics.

Comparison of foreign ESL teachers' and Chinese ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to professional duty

According to Table 4.6, the *p* values of Question 4 (Be responsible for teaching in the best possible way) and Question 6 (Be accountable for their inner moral standards) were less than .05, which demonstrated that although both foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers were highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to professional duty, they demonstrated different levels in these two aspects.

As shown in Table 4.7, ninety-eight percent of foreign ESL teachers chose large extent and very large extent agreement in term of being responsible for teaching in the best possible way, with 87% of Chinese ESL teachers' choosing large extent and very large extent agreement. For Chinese ESL teachers, the largest percentage (95%) of large extent and very large extent agreement happens in Question 7 (Be accountable to professional ethics), with foreign ESL teachers' 88% in the same question. For the two groups, the lowest of percentage of large extent and very large extent agreement happened both to Question 2 (Develop professionally), which was 69%, which

indicated that both foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers perceived that they were less responsible for professional development than for any other activities.

Table 4.7
Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers'
Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with Regard to Professional Duty

Question	Group	Percentage of Teachers Who Chose Large extent & Very Large extent
1. Achieve professional goals	Foreign Chinese	84 81
2. Develop professionally (training sessions, workshops, conferences, etc)	Foreign Chinese	69 69
3. Learn from the work of outstanding colleagues	Foreign Chinese	77 80
4. Be responsible for teaching in the best possible way	Foreign Chinese	98 87
5. Be responsible for using professional knowledge in your work	Foreign Chinese	84 87
6. Be accountable to your own inner moral standards	Foreign Chinese	93 83
7. Be accountable to professional ethics	Foreign Chinese	88 95

Teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to feelings about work

In order to examine foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability, their feelings about work were compared

too. The questions were concerned with teachers' attitudes towards goal achieving, performance reporting, work transparency, work evaluation, and teaching feedback.

Table 4.8 presented the data of foreign ESL teachers and Chinese local ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to feelings about work. For foreign ESL teachers, the means of all the questions were greater than 3, and the means of Question 1, Question 5, and Question 7 were greater than 4. Conclusion can be made that foreign ESL teachers held totally positive attitudes towards the behaviors and activities to promote improve teaching.

Table 4.8
Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with regard to Feelings about Work (N=126)
Question: To what extent do you believe your work should include the following behaviours and activities?

Question	Group	Mean	S.D.	C.I.	P
1. Strive to achieve set goals	Foreign	4.15	0.70	95%: 3.94 - 4.36	0.033*
	Chinese	3.79	1.00	95%: 3.57 - 4.01	0.033
2.Report on your performance	Foreign	3.93	0.80	95%:3.69 - 4.17	
regarding students' academic achievements	Chinese	3.40	0.93	95%:3.20 - 3.61	0.002*
3.Report on performance regarding	Foreign	3.82	0.83	95%:3.57 - 4.06	0.011*
curriculum coverage	Chinese	3.38	0.96	95%:3.16 - 3.59	0.011*
4.Report on performance regarding					
social climate (e.g., student	Foreign	3.86	0.94	95%:3.59 - 4.14	0.000*
behaviour, discipline) in class	Chinese	3.08	1.15	95%:2.83 - 3.33	
5. Show transparency in your work	Foreign	4.17	0.77	95%:3.95 - 4.40	
	Chinese	3.44	0.82	95%:3.26 - 3.62	0.000*
6. Get formal evaluations on the	Foreign	3.81	0.99	95%:3.52 - 4.11	0.562
results of your work	Chinese	3.71	0.95	95%:3.50 - 3.92	0.563
7. Get feedback on your teaching	Foreign	4.20	0.85	95%:3.95 - 4.45	0.185
	Chinese	3.96	1.02	95%:3.73 - 4.18	0.103

Note: *p* values less than .05 are marked with *.

For Chinese ESL teachers, the means of all the seven questions were greater than 3, which indicated that Chinese ESL teachers also held totally positive feelings of the behaviors and activities to promote improve teaching. However, the mean of Question 4 was slightly greater than 3, which implied that Chinese ESL teachers were less inclined towards reporting performance regarding social climate in class.

The *p* values of Question 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 were less than .05, which indicated that the two groups of teachers held the feelings of their work at different levels, but foreign ESL teachers expressed a higher level.

Table 4.9
Percentage Distribution of Foreign ESL Teachers and Chinese Local ESL Teachers'
Perceptions towards Internal Accountability with regard to Feelings about Work

Question	Group	Much extent & Very Much extent (%)
1. Strive to achieve set goals	Foreign Chinese	87 71
2. Report on your performance regarding students' academic achievements	Foreign Chinese	73 55
3. Report on performance regarding curriculum coverage	Foreign Chinese	71 51
4. Report on performance regarding social climate (e.g., student behaviour, discipline) in class	Foreign Chinese	69 43
5. Show transparency in your work	Foreign Chinese	87 50
6. Get formal evaluations on the results of your work	Foreign Chinese	66 64
7. Get feedback on your teaching	Foreign Chinese	83 74

Comparison of foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers'
perceptions towards internal accountability with regard to feelings about work

Both of the two groups of teachers held positive feelings about the behaviors and activities to improve their work, but all the means of the seven questions of foreign ESL teachers were greater than those of Chinese ESL teachers, which indicated a higher level of foreign ESL teachers in term of internal accountability with regard to feelings about work.

The greatest difference between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers happened to the attitude towards showing transparency in their work, with 87 % of foreign ESL teachers and 50% of Chinese ESL teachers choosing much extent or very much extent of agreement as shown in Table 4.9.

The two groups of teachers had a close match in the percentage of teachers who chose much extent and very much extent in Question 6 (Get formal evaluations on the results of your work), with foreign ESL teachers' 66% to Chinese ESL teachers' 64%. This indicated that the two groups of teachers were held accountable for getting formal evaluations on the results of the work at the same level. For Chinese ESL teachers, only 43% (lowest percentage) of them chose much extent and very much extent in Question 4, which showed that Chinese ESL teachers had a comparatively low chance to report on performance regarding social climate (e.g., student behaviour, discipline) in class.

Conclusion for research question two

The data showed that foreign ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to professional duty, especially in the aspects of teaching in the best possible way, being accountable for inner moral standards, and

being accountable for professional ethics. They had three highest means for the question "Be accountable to your own inner moral standards", "Be responsible for using professional knowledge in your work", and "Be accountable to professional ethics", while the lowest mean happened to the question "Develop professionally (training sessions, workshops, conferences, etc)".

Chinese ESL teachers also held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability (professional duty). Chinese ESL teachers had the highest means for the questions where foreign ESL teachers had the highest means too. However, foreign ESL teachers expressed a higher level of internal accountability (professional duty) than Chinese ESL teachers.

In terms of teachers' attitudes towards behaviours and activities to improve their work, both foreign ESL teachers and Chinese ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable, but foreign ESL teachers expressed a higher level in this construct.

Summary

Through an analysis of the data regarding the four constructs: external accountability with regard to outside expectations, external accountability with regard to school management, internal accountability with regard to professional duty, and internal accountability with regard to feelings about work, findings were obtained that foreign teachers perceived that they were held highly accountable for external accountability with regard to outside expectations, but were not held highly accountable for external accountability with regard to school management; Foreign teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to both professional duty and feelings about work.

Compared with foreign ESL teachers, Chinese ESL teachers were held highly accountable for external accountability with regard to both outside expectations and school management; Chinese ESL teachers held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability with regard to both professional aspects and feelings about work.

However, in terms of external accountability (outside expectations), internal accountability (professional), and internal accountability (feelings about work), foreign teachers expressed comparatively higher levels.

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Introduction

In order for a better understanding of the way foreign ESL teachers in China perceived external and internal accountability, a discussion was made with regard to the foreign ESL teacher recruiting policy, the foreign ESL teacher managerial system, the professional advantages and professional development opportunities of foreign ESL teachers in Chinese schools, and as well as foreign ESL teachers' career motivation.

Understanding of Foreign ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards External Accountability

Hawkins (1983) points out that administrative power has been dominating China's educational system. Chen Jianjun, an official of the Ministry of Education asserted the importance of English language:

If a nation's foreign language proficiency is raised, it will be able to obtain information of science and technology from abroad and translate it into the native language. Ultimately this will be turned into production force. (Cen, 1998, cited in Guo, 2012, p. 29)

This discourse demonstrates the Chinese government's attitude towards English language learning, which is "paramount to the nation's economic competitiveness in the global market" (Guo, p. 29). As the top level of the Chinese educational administrative system, the Ministry of Education exercises absolute authority over the lower levels — provincial and district education departments — in terms of educational development.

Reacting to the direction of the Ministry of Education, the district educational authorities and educational units have worked out their own regulations. For example, in Beijing, primary school students should start studying English in Grade three, and the schools partaking in the English teaching reform may open English class for the year-one students (Beijing Commission of Education, 2001). At Chinese universities, the College English Test Band 4 (CET-4) certificate is usually required as the prerequisite for a student to obtain his/her bachelor's degree (Liu, 2014).

The English requirement is by no means limited to the campuses. The government departments, large state-owned enterprises, academic institutes, and even small companies all have a high regard for graduates who are proficient in English as determined by English test (scores) certificates. Those who are already working also join with the English trainee team to increase their future career choices. In China, English has been considered a step to future success (Johnson, 2009).

Demand of Foreign ESL Teachers and the Related Problems

In China, native English teachers are in high demand on the grounds of a fever of English learning. By the year of 2006, around 200,000 person-times of foreign teachers were recruited to Chinese schools (Jin, 2006). All the Chinese universities or colleges that set English course have employed foreign ESL teachers (Wu & Li, 2009).

In their research, Wu and Li (2009) find that foreign teachers are expected to speak standard target language, be serious with class teaching, be able to correct the mistakes in students' pronunciation and grammar, be good at reaction with students, be humorous, and deliver rich contents in class. Therefore, quality foreign teachers are always popular.

Due to the imperfect intermediate link of the recruiting system and huge demand of native English teachers, a number of illegal or unqualified English speakers have poured into this profession (Jin, 2006). On the other hand, the imbalance of demand and supply of foreign ESL teachers has resulted in ignorance of foreign ESL teachers' professional capabilities when universities recruit foreign teachers (Dui, 2008).

A prevailing saying that "anyone whose native language is English can find a position as an English teacher in China" is a real practice in the foreign teacher employment market (Jin, 2006, p. 115). Employing illegal or unqualified English speakers as ESL teachers has, to a certain extent, thrown English teaching into disorder (Jin, 2006), as a result, when talking about the cases of unqualified ESL teachers in China, students believe that they may just have practised some simple listening, or may have learned nothing (Wolff, 2003).

Foreign ESL teacher managerial systems in China

Managerial system at government level

China's current foreign ESL teacher management is under the leadership of the State Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs and the Sate Ministry of Education.

In order to standardize recruitment and teaching of foreign teachers, the above two departments have released different regulations or policies. For example, the State Ministry of Education issued *The Guidelines of Recruiting Foreign Culture and Education Experts and Foreign Language Teachers at Institutions of Higher Learning* in 1991, and the Sate Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs of China released *The Regulations on Foreign Experts Working Permit Application* in 2008. Both the

documents specify the required credentials for the foreign ESL applicants and the employment regulations.

Jin and Ding (2011) indicate that the overlap of management and the complicated entry visa procedure have hampered the efficiency of foreign teacher recruitment procedures.

Managerial system at school level

The foreign ESL teacher managerial system in Chinese schools is interwoven with two sub-systems: the teaching management system which is assumed by the Department of Educational Administration, and the administrative service system which is provided by the International Department (Ministry of Education, 1991).

The Ministry of Education of China stipulates that Foreign ESL teachers refer to the Department of Educational Administration for assistance when they have teaching-related problems. The responsibilities of the International Department range from selecting foreign teachers according to recruiting standards and handling the foreign teachers' position-entry procedures, to daily service. In real practice, at schools with no International Department, the administrative service for foreign teachers is usually assumed by other departments, such as human resources, and specific staff members are generally allocated to fulfill the same tasks as stipulated.

Considering that foreign teachers are in a completely different situation in terms of language, culture, social customs, and the education system, the administrative staff in the Department of Educational Administration and the International Department tends to provide much assistance to them (Diao, 2011). At schools with many foreign teachers, individual Chinese English teachers provide person-to-person assistance to the individual foreign teacher.

Nevertheless, the administrative assistance cannot make up the deficiency in teaching management. In their research, Wu and Li (2009) found that quite a number of foreign ESL teachers did not have a textbook from their employers, and they did not have a clear teaching plan either. Foreign ESL teachers were allowed too much discretion in teaching.

The current situations of foreign ESL teacher management explains why foreign ESL teachers in the present study perceived that they were highly held accountable for external accountability with regard to outside expectations, but were less held accountable for external accountability with regard to school management.

Understanding of Foreign ESL Teachers' Perceptions towards Internal Accountability

To understand foreign ESL teachers' perceptions towards internal accountability, the following topics about foreign ESL teachers in China were discussed in this section:

- 1. Professional advantages
- 2. Professional development opportunities
- 3. Career motivation

Professional advantages of foreign ESL teachers

Language is basically a communicative tool. When communication happens between people from different cultural backgrounds, "the most important overriding skill is understanding the context within which the communication takes place. This context is to a large extent culturally determined" (Seelye, 1993, p.1).

English, as a language, is communication-based, and involves culture, values, and social beliefs that are shared by the English communities.

For a long time, Chinese ESL teachers' classes were taught with didactic and force-feeding methods. The teachers focused on "linguistic perspective (including components such as phonetics, phonology, syntax, semantics, and morphology" (Zhou, 2011, p.2). The students were usually forced to memorize new words, grammatical points, and sentence structures, which helped them to form grammatically correct sentences. Important as the linguistic perspective is, it does not help the students with effective communication. The direct influence is that the students have comparatively good reading skills, but their writing is not acceptable, because the randomly selected words and rigid sentences do not convey proper meanings (Bao, 2009).

Bao (2009) also indicates that due to the grammar-based concept and the lack of opportunities to speak the language, students treat English learning as acquisition of knowledge rather than communicating in English, resulting in "mute English" among Chinese students. Unfortunately, young teachers still teach the same way they learned from their teachers. For the past decades, the traditional English teaching method has remained unchanged. An authoritarian classroom environment and outdated teaching methods are likely to cause "resistance to communicating in English" (p. 176).

In the present study, 85% of the foreign participants agreed (large extent or very large extent) that teachers were responsible for using professional knowledge in teaching. Wang (2006) indicates that foreign ESL teachers' own a competitive edge in the English language and culture makes their classes more appealing, and the combination of native English language and culture helps the students better understand the in-depth connotation of vocabulary, idioms, and the whole context of

the given material. Foreign teachers are better positioned to teach students "appropriate English" rather than "grammatically correct English".

In terms of classroom control, foreign ESL teachers have a better command of class interaction between students and teacher, and between individual students than Chinese ESL teachers. In foreign ESL teachers' classes, students are more involved in communications and discussions, and have more opportunities to practise what they have learned. Therefore, the students are active, and their potential is much easier to demonstrate (Wang, 2006).

Pearl and Knight (1999) find that effective teachers value students' classroom achievements, treat students equally, recognize students' creativity, and free students from humiliation. Hu and Liu (2009) find that foreign ESL teachers generally meet the Pearl and Knight standards. In the present study, as many as 98% of the foreign participants agreed to teach in the best possible way.

Foreign ESL teachers are also found to conduct different assessments on the students from Chinese local ESL teachers.

Butt (2010) argues that assessment is an indispensable part of educational activities and is used to provide evidence of educational achievements for students. Assessment is a process in which teachers collect information about how students learn. Through student assessment, teachers can modify their teaching activities, as well as improve students' learning.

China's test-based teaching system has decided that a higher test score is the main goal teachers and students pursue. As a result, summative assessment which takes the exam score as the only assessment criterion to assess students' achievement is mostly conducted by Chinese teachers. The summative assessment system usually:

... Involves tests that are infrequent, isolated from normal teaching and learning, carried out on special occasions with formal rituals, and often conducted by methods over which individual teachers have little or no control. (Black, Harrison, Lee, Marshall, & William. 2003, p. 2)

However, students' class performance during English learning is usually neglected. The system with summative assessment as the only method destroys students' initiatives, and finally spoils the teachers' activeness (Chen, 2011).

In my 10-year experience as foreign teacher coordinator at a Chinese university, foreign teachers' assessments of their Chinese students were overall positive. The assessments included the following headings: hard working, eager to learn, active with the class duty, and serious with exams. The assessments involved the students' attitudes towards English learning, class performance, and learning results, which could only be obtained when teachers' concerns about students' studies continued through a whole semester, or even longer. Such assessment is formative assessment.

Formative assessment is a range of assessment procedures involving information gathering, judging, and goal deciding in teaching and learning activities (Harlen, 2008). Butt (2010) finds formative assessment an efficient and constructive educational conduct, because it "fosters innovation, helps learners to know how to improve, and recognizes all educational achievement" (p. 51). In the Chinese social context, Chen (2011) argues that the students' initiative for English learning rises when teachers conduct formative assessments.

ESL teachers' professional development in China

The ultimate goal of educational initiatives is to improve student achievement. However, improvement of teachers must be the most important prerequisite (Ferguson, 1991; Harwell, 2003). Richards and Farrell (2005) indicate that

"opportunities for in-service training are crucial to the long-term development of teachers as well as for the long-term success of the programs in which they work" (p. 1). The importance of teachers' professional development has been recognized.

English learning has been booming for three decades in China, and the number of English learners in China was estimated to be as high as 300 million by 2010 (Liu, 2010). However, the number of the ESL teachers has not increased to keep pace with the increased number of English learners. The college/university ESL teacher to student ratio was 1:130 in 2015 (Li, 2015). Huang and Shao (2001) find that in order to solve the problem, "most universities have to increase the class size" and "nearly 1/3 of the universities have added 1-2 hours per week to the regulated work load" (p. 21).

Although facing a huge pressure of teaching tasks, Chinese ESL teachers have a strong identity with their profession, which has been testified from their strong wish for professional development (Zhou, 2005). Zhou also finds that individual needs for professional development are prevalent among college English teachers in China. However, Zheng (2014) indicates that the current professional development opportunities are far beyond from teachers' expectations (p. 185).

The Chinese government departments at all levels — from the State Ministry of Education to the local educational departments — have launched various teachers' professional development programs. Individual schools have organized training programs too. But an unavoidable problem is that no official professional development programs for foreign ESL teachers can be found in the current literatures, which means that foreign teachers have been excluded from the professional development opportunities.

Foreign ESL teachers' career motivations

Harmer (2001) defines motivation as "some kind of internal drive which pushes someone to do things in order to achieve something" (p. 51). Motivation explains the reason why people pursue a goal, and how much time and energy they must put in to achieve the goal (Dörnyei, 2001).

Motivation includes two dimensions: extrinsic motivation and intrinsic motivation. Extrinsic motivation is related to income and some practical benefits (Latham, 1998); intrinsic motivation could be understood as self-reverence of achievement and better personal development (Ellis, 1984).

In recent years, the Chinese government has invested more money to increase native teacher's income. However, salaries for foreign teachers were not increased to the same extent. The China Foreign Teachers Union reported that foreign teachers' income in China is 40 % less than foreign teachers' average income worldwide: "only 17 countries pay foreign teachers lower wages in the world than China." (CFTU, 2014). On the other hand, most foreign ESL teachers "work in insecure and uncertain contexts" (Falout, 2010, p.27), since their employment is generally based on short-term contracts.

Day et al. (2007) point out that teachers' performances reveal their inner morality towards contribution to the society and their positive attitudes to enhance their professionalism. As discussed in Chapter Four, foreign ESL teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable for internal accountability. Since comparatively low income, fewer chances of professional training, and huge pressure have never diminished foreign ESL teachers' internal accountability, a conclusion can be made that foreign ESL teachers' intrinsic motivation have more supported them

with teaching tasks in China. Foreign ESL teachers' intrinsic motivation can be their inner morality, work ethics, or future professional development.

Conclusion

The present research was conducted to determine foreign ESL teachers' perceptions of external accountability and internal accountability. Through analyzing the data from four constructs: outside expectations, school management, professional duty, and feelings about work, findings were obtained that foreign teachers perceived that they were held externally accountable with regard to outside expectations, and they were not held externally accountable for school management. In terms of internal accountability, foreign teachers perceived that they held themselves highly accountable in both the construct of professional duty and the construct of feelings about work.

A comparison of the data was made between foreign ESL teachers and Chinese foreign teachers, and the differences were detected that foreign ESL teachers had different perceptions from Chinese ESL teachers towards external accountability with regard to school management. Foreign ESL teachers had similar perceptions as Chinese ESL teachers towards external accountability with regard to outside expectations and toward internal accountability with regard to both professional duty and feelings of work. But foreign ESL teachers expressed a higher level in the above three constructs.

References

- Adams, J. E., & Kirst, M. (1999). New demands and concepts for educational accountability: Striving for results in an era of excellence. In J. Murphy & K. Louis (Eds.), *Handbook of research on educational administration. 2nd edition*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Ahearn, E. M. (2000). Educational Accountability: A Synthesis of the literature and Review of a Balanced Model of Accountability. Project Forum at National Association of State Directors of Special Education.
- Anderson, G. (2004). 'Voices from the chalkface': the senate inquiry into the capacity of public universities to meet Australia's higher education needs. *Studies in Higher Education*, 29(2), 185-200.
- Apple, M. (1986). Teachers and Texts. London: Rutledge and Kegan Paul.
- Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership. (2011). *Australian Professional Standards for Teachers*. Retrieved from http://www.aitsl.edu.au/docs/default-source/apst-resources/australian_professional_standard_for_teachers_final.pdf.
- Bao, J. (2009). The Cause Theory of Chin-glish and Its Reflection of College English Teaching. *Journal of Hebei Polytechnic University (Social Science Edition)*,
 9(6),
 174-176.
- Black, P., Harrison, C., Lee, C., Marshall, B., & William, D. (2003). *Assessment for Learning: Putting it into Practice*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Brown, G. T. L., Hui, S. K. F., Yu, F. W. M., & Kennedy, K. J. (2011). Teachers' conceptions of assessment in Chinese contexts: A tripartite model of accountability, improvement, and irrelevance. *International journal of Educational Research*, (2011), 307-320.
- Bullough, R. V. (2010). Review: Ethical and moral matters in teaching and teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27, 21-28.
- Burstein, L., Oakes, J., & Guiton, G. (1992). *Education Indicators*. In M.C. Alkin (Ed.), Encyclopedia of educational research (5th ed., pp. 409-418). New York: MacMillan.
- Butt, G. (2010). Making Assessment Matter. New York, NY: Continuum.
- Buzzelli, C. & Johnston, B. (2001). Authority, power, and morality in classroom discourse. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17, 873-884.

- Carlgren, I. & Klette, K. (2008). Reconstructions of Nordic Teachers: Reform policies and teachers' work during the 1990s. *Scandinavian journal of Educational Research*, 52(2), 117-133.
- Carnoy, M. & Loeb, S. (2002). Does external accountability affect student outcomes? A cross-state analysis. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24, 305-331.
- Carr, D. (2006). Professional and Personal Values and Virtues in Education and Teaching. *Oxford Review of Education*, 32(2), 171-183.
- Chen, W. (2011). The Influence of Formative Assessment on College English Teaching. *Journal of Beijing City University*, 1, 2011, 94-98.
- Cochran-Smith, M., Piazza, P., & Power, C., (2012). The Politics of Accountability: Assessing Teacher Education in the United States. *The Educational Forum*, (77)1, 6-27.
- Cohen, D. K., Raudenbush, S., & Ball, D. L. (2002). Re-sources, instruction, and research. In F. Mosteller & R. Boruch (Eds.), *Evidence matters: Randomized trials in education research*, (p. 80–119). Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Comber, B. & Nixon, H. (2009). Teachers' work and pedagogy in an era of accountability. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 30(3), 333-345.
- Corcoran, T. B., Shields, P. M., & Zucker, A. A. (1998). *The SSIs and professional development for teachers*. Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Crocco, M. S. & Costigan, A. T. (2007). The Narrowing of Curriculum and Pedagogy in the Age of Accountability: Urban Educators Speak out. *Urban Education*, 42(6), 512-535.
- Dale, R. (1989). *The State and Education Policy*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2007). Race, inequity and educational accountability: The irony of 'No child left behind'. *Race, Ethnicity and Education*, (2007) *10*, 245-260.
- Day, C. (1999). *Developing teachers: The challenges of lifelong learning*. London: Falmer.

- Day, C., Flores, M. A., & Viana, I. (2007). Effects of national policies on teachers' sense of professionalism: findings from an empirical study in Portugal and in England. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 30(3), 249-265.
- Department of Higher Education of Ministry of Education of P. R. China. (2007). *College English Curriculum Requirements*. Beijing: Foreign Language Teaching and Research Press.
- Diamond, J. B., Burch, P., Hallett, T., Jita, L., & Zoltmers, J. (2010). Managing in the Middle: School Leaders and the Enactment of Accountability Policy. *Educational Policy*, *16*, 731-762.
- Diao, C. (2011). Issues of Employment and Service to Foreign Teachers at Universities. *Data of Culture and Education*, March 2011, 165-166.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2001). Motivational Strategies in the Language Classroom. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dui, Y. (2008). Supervision and Evaluation on College Foreign Teachers' Teaching Quality. *Guangxi Zhiliang Jiandu Daobao (Guangxi Journal of Quality Supervision)*, 9, 16-17.
- Edison, J. (1990). Confidence in the Classroom: Ten Maxims for New Teachers. *College Teaching*, *38*(1), 21-25.
- Elkins, T. & Elliott, J. (2004). Competition and control: the impact of government regulation on teaching and learning in English schools. *Research Papers in Education*, 19(1), 15-30.
- Ellis, T. I. (1984). Motivating Teachers for Excellence. ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management: ERIC Digest, Number 6. ERIC Document Reproduction Service, No: ED259449.
- Falout, J. (2010). Strategies for teacher motivation. *The Language Teacher*, *34* (6), 27-32.
- Fensternacher, G. D., & Richardson, V. (2005). On Making Determinations of Quality in Teaching. *Teachers College Record*, 107(1), 186-213.
- Ferguson, R. (1991). Paying for public education: New evidence on how and why money matters. *Harvard Journal of Legislation*, Vol. 28 (Summer, 1991).
- Firestone, W.A., & Shipps, D. (2005). How do leaders interpret conflicting accountabilities to improve student learning? In: C. Riehl & W. Firestone (Eds.), *A New Agenda: Directions for Research on Educational Leadership*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Freedman, S. W., & Appleman, D. (2008). What Else Would I Be Doing?: Teacher

- Identity and Teacher Retention in Urban Schools. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 35(3), 109-126.
- Fullan, M., Rincon-Gallardo, S., & Hargreaves, A. (2015). Professional Capital as Accountability. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 23(15), 1-22.
- Graddol, D. (2006). English Next. London: British Council.
- Guo, Y. (2012). Teaching English for Economic Competitiveness: Emerging Issues and Challenges in English Education in China. *Canadian and International Education*, 41(2), 28-50.
- Hansen, D. T. (2001). Exploring the Moral Heart of Teaching: Towards a Teacher's Creed. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Hansson, H. (2006). Teachers' Professional Development for the Technology-Enhanced Classroom in the School of Tomorrow. *E-Learning*, *3*(4), 552-564.
- Hanushek, E. A. & Raymond, M. E. (2004). Does school accountability lead to improved performance? *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 24, 297-327.
- Harlen, W. (2008). 'Trusting teachers' judgement', in Swaffield, S. (ed.), *Unlocking Assessment: understanding for reflection and application*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Harmer, J. (2001). The Practice of English Language Teaching. Essex: Longman Press.
- Harwell, S. (2003, July). *Teacher professional development: It's not an event, it's a process.* Waco, TX: CORD.
- Hawkins, J. N. (1983). The People's Republic of China: Educational Policy and national Minorities: The Politics of Intergroup Relations. In *Politics and Education: Cases form eleven nations*. Great Britain: Pergamon Press.
- Henig, J. R. (1994). *Rethinking school choice: Limits of the market metaphor*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hextall, I., Cribb, A., Gewirtz, S., Mahony, P. & Troman, G. (2007). Changing Teacher Roles, Identities and Professionalism: An Annotated Bibliography. *Teaching & Learning Research Programme*. Retrieved from http://www.tirp.org/themes/seminar/gewirtz/papers/bibliography.pdf.
- Hiebert, J., & Grouws, D. A. (2007). The effects of classroom mathematics teaching on students' learning. In F. K. Lester (Ed.), *The second handbook of research in mathematics education*. Reston, VA: New Age and National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

- Hiep, Pham Hoa (2006). The Global Spread of English: Ethical and Pedagogic Concerns for ESL/EFL Teachers. *The Journal of Asia TEFL 3*(1), 21-37.
- Higher Education Department, Ministry of Education. *College English Curriculum Requirements*. Shanghai: Shanghai Foreign Languages Education Press, 2007.
- Hu, L. & Liu, P. (2009). A Perspective of the Foreign English Teachers' Teaching in China. Retrieved from http://www.cita-edu.com.
- Huang, J., & Shao, Y. (2001). An Survey and Analysis of University Teachers and English Teaching, *China University Teaching*, 2001(6), 20 -27.
- Hudson, P. (2009). How can pre-service teachers be measured against advocated professional teaching standards? *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 34(5), 65-73
- Hurley, N., & Lu, D. (2015). An Investigation of the Values and Attitudes of Teachers towards Teacher Accountability in China and Canada. Educational Policy and leadership, Paper Session.
- Jaafar, S., & Anderson, S. (2007). Policy trends and tensions in accountability for educational management and services in Canada. *The Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 53(2), 207–227.
- Jackson, P. W. (1992). The Enactment of the Moral in What Teachers Do. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 22(4), 401-407.
- Jeffrey, B. (2002). Performativity and Primary Teacher Relations. *Journal of Education Policy*, 17(5), 531-546.
- Jin, N., & Ding, Y. (2011). A Study of Chinese Universities Using the International Experiences to Recruit Talents from the Overseas. *Public Administration and Law*, 11, 76-80.
- Jin, Y. (2006). Reposition of Foreign Teachers Employment and Service. *Heilongjiang Researches on Higher Education*, 1, 114-116.
- Johnson, A. (2009). The Rise of English: The Language of Globalization in China and the European Union. *Macalister International*, 22, 131-168.
- Kallestad, J. H., & Olweus, D. (1998). Teachers' emphases on general educational goals: a study of Norwegian teachers. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 42(3), 257-279.
- Lana, V. (2015). Teacher Accountability Does Not Equal Evaluations Tied to Test Scores. Retrieved February 2, 2015 from http://www.teaching.monster.com/.../articles/10979-teacher-accountability-does-not-equal-evaluations-tied-to-test-scores?page=2.

- Latham, A. S. (1998). Teacher Satisfaction. *Educational Leadership*, 55, 82-83.
- Lee, J. (2008). Is test-driven external accountability effective? Synthesizing the evidence from cross-state causal-comparative and correlational studies. *Review of Educational Research*, 78, 608-644.
- Leithwood, K. (2005). *Educational Accountability: Issues and Alternatives*. Toronto: OISE. Research Report, Saskatchewan School Boards Association.
- Leithwood, K., & Earl, L. (2000). Educational accountability effects: An international perspective. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 75(4), 1-18.
- Levitt, R., Janta, B., & Wegrich, K. (2008). *Accountability of teachers: Literature review*. Technical Report. Santa Monica: RAND Corporation.
- Li, L. (2015). College English Teacher Professional Development: Multi-methods for New Challenges. Retrieved from http://paper.i21st.cn/story/33103.html.
- Little, J. W. (1993). Teachers' professional development in a climate of educational reform. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis*, 15(2), 129-151.
- Liu, C. (2014). A Study of the English Teaching Reforms at Chinese Local Universities. *New West*, *18*, 148-149.
- Liu, S. (2010). Teaching English in China: Conflicts and Expectations. *The International journal Language Society and Culture*, 31, 90-97.
- Louis, K. S., Febey, K., & Schroeder, R. (2005). State-Mandated Accountability in high Schools: Teachers' Interpretations of a New Era. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 27(2), 177-204.
- Lumpkin, A. (2008). Teachers as Role Models: Teaching Character and Moral Virtues. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance, 79*(2), 45-49.
- Ma, L. (1999). Knowing and teaching elementary mathematics: Teachers' understanding of fundamental mathematics in China and the United States. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Margolis, J., & Deuel, A. (2009). Teacher Leaders in Action: Motivation, Morality, and Money. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 8(3), 264-286.
- Mauigoa-Tekene, L. (2006). Enhancing Teachers' Questioning Skills to Improve Children's Learning and Thinking in Pacific Island Early Childhood Centres. *New Zealand Journal of Teachers' Work*, *3*(1), 12-23.
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2010). *Research in education: Evidence-based inquiry* (7th edition). New York: Pearson Education, Inc.

- Ministry of Education of China, (1991). *The Provisions of Colleges and Universities to Hire Foreign Experts and Foreign Teachers*. Retrieved from http://www.moe.edu.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/moe/moe_621/201001/xxg k_81927.html.
- Ministry of Education of China, (2010). *Outline of the National Program for Long- and Medium-Term Educational Reform and Development 2010-2020.* Retrieved from http://www.moe.edu.cn/srcsite/A01/s7048/201007/t20100729_171904.html.
- Mintrop, H. & Sunderman, G. L. (2009). Predictable Failure of Federal Sanctions-Driven Accountability for School Improvement—And Why We May Retain It Anyway. *Educational Researcher*, 38(5), 353-364.
- National Commission on Teaching and America's Future. 1996. What matters most: teaching for America's future. New York: Author.
- Newmann, F. M., King, M. B., & Rigdon, M. (1997). Accountability and school performance: Implications from restructuring schools. *Harvard Educational Review*, 67(1), 41-74.
- New Oriental. (n.d.). Retrieved January 15, 2016, from http://www.neworiental.org/system/pxyw/lxks.html.
- Ng, J. C., & Peter, L. (2010). Should I Stay or Should I Go? Examining the Career Choices of Alternatively Licensed Teachers in Urban Schools. *Urban Review*, 42(2), 123-142.
- Nieto, S. (2009). From Surviving to Thriving. Educational Leadership, 66(5), 8-13
- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107–110 (2002).
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). *Psychometric theory* (2nd ed.). New York: McGrath-Hill.
- Ouchi, W. (2003). Making schools work: A Revolutionary Plan to Get Your Children the Education They Need. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Paine, L. W., & Fang, Y. (2006). Reform as hybrid model of teaching and Teacher Development in China. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 45, 279-289.
- Pearl, A., & Knight, T. (1999). *The Democratic Classroom: Theory to Inform Practice (Understanding Education and Policy)*. Cresskill: Hampton Press.
- Pollard, A. (ed) (2010). *Professionalism and pedagogy: A contemporary opportunity*. A Commentary by TLRP and GTCE. London: TLRP.

- Richards, J. C., & Farrell, T. S. (2005). *Professional Development for Language Teachers: Strategies for Teacher Learning*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Richardson, V., & Fenstermacher, G. D. (2001). Manner in Teaching: The Study in Four Parts. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *33*(6), 631-637.
- Richardson, V., & Placier, P. (2001). Teacher change. In V. Richardson (Ed.). *Handbook of Research on Teaching* (4th Ed., pp. 905–947) Washington, DC: American Education Research Association.
- Robertson-Kraft, C. (2012). How Does Performance Evaluation Affect Teacher Motivation? Lessons from YES Prep Public Schools. Paper presented at the (2012) annual meeting of the *American Educational Research Association*. Retrieved from the AERA Online Paper Repository.
- Rosenblatt, Z., & Shimoni, O. (2001). Teacher Accountability: An Experimental Field Study. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education* 15(4), 309-328.
- Rosenblatt, Z. (2013). Personal-Level Accountability in Education: Conceptualization, Measurement and Validation. *Presented at the Academy of Management Conference, Florida, US, August 2013*.
- Sachs, J. (2003). Teacher Professional Standards: controlling or developing teaching? *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 9 (2), 175-186.
- Sahlgerg, p. (2010). Rethinking accountability in a knowledge society. *J Educ Change*, 11, 45-61.
- Santoro, D. A. (2011). Good Teaching in Difficult Times: Demoralization in the Pursuit of Good Work. *American Journal of Education*, 118 (1), 1-23.
- Seelye, H. (1993). *Teaching culture: Strategies for intercultural communication* (3rd ed.). Lincolnwood, IL: National Textbook Company.
- Shi, W. & Yang, H. (2015). A Study on College Foreign Teachers Employment and Management. *Journal of Shenyang Normal University (Social Science)*, 2015(1).
- Smith, L. (1983). English as an international auxiliary language. In L. Smith (Ed.), *Readings in English as an international language* (pp.1-6). Oxford: Pergamon.
- Strike, K. A. (1990). Teaching ethics to teachers: What the curriculum should be about. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 6(1), 47-53.
- Sunderman, G. L., Tracey, C. A., Kim, J., & Orfield, G. (2004). *Listening to teachers:* Classroom realities and No Child Left Behind. Cambridge, MA: The Civil Rights project at Harvard University.

- The China Foreign Teachers Union (2014). *China Foreign Teacher Salaries/Pay Almost Lowest In The World*. Retrieved from http://www.chinaforeignteachersunion.org/2014/01/china-foreign-teachers-pay-almost.html.
- The National Commission for College English Test Band 4 and Band 6. (2015). The Purpose of the College English Test. Retrieved from http://www.cet.edu.cn/cet_concept1.htm
- The Oxford English Dictionary, Volume 1 A-B, (1995). Clarendon: Oxford Press.
- The Sate Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs of China (2008). *The Regulations on Foreign Experts Working Permit Application*. Retrieved from http://www.safea.gov.cn/content.shtml?id=12744213.
- The White House, Office of the Press Secretary (March 10, 2009). *Remarks of the President to the United States Hispanic Chamber of Commerce*. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/remarks-president-united-states-hispanic-chamber-commerce.
- Tuinamuana, K. (2011). Teacher Professional Standards, Accountability, and Ideology: Alternative Discourses. *Australian journal of Teacher Education*, *36* (12), 72-82.
- U.K. Department for Education. (2011, July). *Teachers' Standards*. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teachers-standards.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2011, September). *Our Future, Our Teachers: The Obama Administration's Plan for Teacher Education Reform and Improvement*. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/sites/default/files/our-future-our-teachers.pdf.
- Valenzuela, A. (2005). Leaving children behind: How "Texas-style" accountability fails Latino youth. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Verger, A., Altinyelken, H. K., & Koning, M. D., (2013). Global Managerial Education Reforms and Teachers: Emerging Policies, Controversies and Issues in Developing Contexts. Brussels: Education International.
- Vernaza, N. A. (2012). Teachers' Perceptions of High-Stakes Accountability in Florida's Title I Elementary Schools. *Current Issues in Education*, 15(1), 1-10.
- Walls, R.T. (1999). *Psychological foundations of learning*. Morgantown, WV: WVU International Center for Disability Information.
- Wang, H. & Miao, L. (2014). Blue Book of Global Talent: Annual Report On the Development of Chinese Students Studying Abroad (2014) No. 3. Beijing: Social Sciences Academic Press.

- Whitty, G., Power, S., & Halpin, D. (1998). *Devolution and choice in education: The school, the state and the market*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Winter, C. (2010). The state steers by remote control: Standardising teacher education. *International Studies in Sociology of Education*, 10(2), 153-175.
- Wise, A. E. & Leibbrand, J. A. (2003). *A Professional Model of Accountability for Teaching*. Denver: Education Commission of the States.
- Wolff, M. (2003). China EFL: An Industry Run Amuck? In China TEFL Network. Retrieved from http://teflchina.org/jobs/intro/Niu_and_Wolff.htm.
- Wu, F., & Li, P. (2009). An Analysis of College Foreign English Teachers' Teaching. *Journal of Yulin Normal University*, 30(6), 117-120.
- Xia, J. (2012). Concerns about college EFL teachers' professional development problems and way-out in the New Chinese Context. *Foreign Language Learning Theory and Practice*, 2, 6-8
- Xiao, W. (2014). The Intensity and Direction of CET Washback on Chinese College Students' Test-taking Strategy Use. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 4(6), 1171-1177.
- Xiao, X. (2010). A Right Attitude towards the CET Tests. *Legal System and Society*, 3, 247.
- Yoon, K. S., Duncan, T., Lee, S. W., Scarloss, B., & Shapley, K. L. (2007). Reviewing the evidence on how teacher professional development affects student achievement (Issues & Answers Report, REL 2007-No. 033). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Education Laboratory Southwest. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs.
- Yu, Z. (2008). The Abuses of the College English Test and Its Reform. *Modern Education Science*, 1, 93-96.
- Zheng, Y. (2014). A Report of Professional Development Opportunities for English Teachers at Chinese Higher Vocational Colleges. *Journal of Shandong Agricultural Engineering College*, 1, 184-190.
- Zhou, J., & Reed, L. (2005). Chinese government documents on teacher education since the 1980s. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 31(3), 201-213.
- Zhou, Y. (2005). A Survey and Research of College English Teachers Development Needs. *Foreign Languages Teaching and Research*, 2005(3), 78-85.
- Zhou, Y. (2011). A Study of Chinese University EFL Teachers and Their Intercultural Competence Teaching. Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Papper 428.

Zhu, X., & Han, X. (2006). Reconstruction of the teacher education system in China. *International Education Journal*, 7(1), 66-73.

APPENDICES

Appendix A. Questionnaire

An International Study on Teachers' Cultural Values and Accountability

Dear teacher,

I am Hailiang Zhao, a master student at the Faculty of Education, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada. I am currently doing my master thesis research on teacher accountability of Foreign ESL teachers teaching in China. This study is under the umbrella of Dr. Noel Hurley, who is a member of the Consortium for Crosscultural Research in Education (CCCRE).

CCCRE is devoted to the study of teachers' perceptions of their work, and to comparisons between teachers from different cultures.

I would appreciate it very much if you can spend a little time and answer the questions in the following pages. Please be assured that research strictly follow ethical restrictions – the questionnaire is anonymous, and respondents will in no way be identified.

Thank you for your help.

Sincerely,

Hailiang Zhao

Members of Consortium for Cross-cultural Research in Education

Professor John Williamson (Australia)

Professor Noel Hurley (Canada and China)

Dr. Nora Arato (Hungary and US)

Professor Zehava Rosenblatt (Israel)

Professor Theo Wubbles and Professor Perry Den Brok (The Netherlands)

Professor Johan Booyse (South Africa)

Dr. Mila Sainz Ibanez (Spain)

Professor Al Menlo (US)

Professor Zolt Laviscka (UK)

Part A. Demographic background a. Gender: 1. Male 2. Female 3. Other
b. Age: (yrs)
c. Experience as a teacher: (yrs)
d. Experience as a teacher in China: (yrs)
e. If applicable, please specify which leadership position you hold in addition to teaching (e.g. vice-principal, headmaster, subject-area coordinator):
f. Teaching area:
1Humanities, languages and social studies
2Science, mathematics and technology
3Arts, sport
4Other
g. Size of school in number of students:
h. School location: 1. Urban 2. Suburban, 3. Rural 4. Other
i. School level:
1Elementary/primary
2Middle
3High/secondary
4College/university

Part B. In your work as a teacher, to what extent do you feel that it is your responsibility to?

responsibility to:					
Question	Very little	Little extent	Neither little nor large	Large extent	Very large extent
1. Make sure your students achieve high achievement scores					
2. Meet expected standards					
3. Be accountable for your students achievements					
4. Report to school leadership on the way on perform your work					
5. Report to other teachers on the way you perform your work					
6. Allow your work in class to be transparent to school leadership					
7. Allow your work in class to be transparent to other teachers					
8. Be evaluated on the basis of your work achievements					
9. Change your work according to feedback you get					
10. Be held accountable when your work in the classroom does not meet expectations					
11. Be acknowledged for the success of your classes					

Part C. To what extent do you believe your work should include the following behaviours and activities?

Question	Very little	Little extent	Neither little nor much	Much extent	Very much extent
1. Strive to achieve set goals					
2. Report on your performance regarding students' academic achievements					
3. Report on performance regarding curriculum coverage					
4. Report on performance regarding social climate (e.g., student behaviour, discipline) in class					
5. Show transparency in your work					
6. Get formal evaluations on the results of your work					
7. Get feedback on your teaching					

Part D. In your work as a teacher, to what extent do you feel that it is your duty to?

Question	Very little extent	Little extent	Neither little nor large	Large extent	Very large extent
1. Achieve professional goals					
2. Develop professionally (training sessions, workshops, conferences, etc)					
3. Learn from the work of outstanding colleagues					
4. Be responsible for teaching in the best possible way					
5. Be responsible for using professional knowledge in your work					
6. Be accountable to your own inner moral standards					
7. Be accountable to professional ethics					

Part E. To what extent do you believe your work should include the following behaviours and activities?

Question	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1. The way I teach in my class is determined for the most part by myself					
2. The contents taught in my class are those that I select myself					
3. My teaching focuses on goals and objectives that I select myself					
4. I myself select the teaching materials that I use with my students					
5. I am free to be creative in my teaching approach					
6. My job does not allow for much discretion on my part					
7. In my class I have little control over how classroom space is used					
8. My school administration strongly support my goals and values					
9. My school administration values my contribution					
10 My school administration takes pride in my accomplishments at work					
11. My school administration really cares about me					
12. If given the chance, my school administration would take unfair advantage of me					

13. My school administration is willing to help me when I need a special favor			
14. Upon my request, my school administration would change my working conditions if at all possible			
15. My school administration would ignore any complaint from me			

Appendix B. Approval of Ethics Review



Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

St. John's, Nt. Canada AIC 557
Tel: 709 864-2561 (cehr@mun.ca
www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr

ICEHR Number:	20160131-ED
Approval Period:	June 18, 2015 - June 30, 2016
Funding Source:	N/A
Responsible Faculty:	Dr. Noel Hurley Faculty of Education
Title of Project:	An Investigation of Foreign ESL Teachers in China toward Teacher Accountability: A Comparison between Chinese ESL Teachers and Foreign ESL Teachers in China

June 18, 2015

Mr. Hailiang Zhao Faculty of Education Memorial University of Newfoundland

Dear Mr. Zhao:

Thank you for your email correspondence of June 11 and 18, 2015 addressing the issues raised by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) concerning the above-named research project.

The ICEHR has re-examined the proposal with the clarification and revisions submitted, and is satisfied that the concerns raised by the Committee have been adequately addressed. In accordance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the project has been granted full ethics clearance to June 30, 2016. ICEHR approval applies to the ethical acceptability of the research, as per Article 6.3 of the TCPS2. Researchers are responsible for adherence to any other relevant University policies and/or funded or non-funded agreements that may be associated with the project.

If you need to make changes during the course of the project, which may raise ethical concerns, please forward an amendment request form with a description of these changes to icehr@mun.ca for the Committee's consideration.

The TCPS2 requires that you submit an annual update form to the ICEHR before June 30, 2016. If you plan to continue the project, you need to request renewal of your ethics clearance, and include a brief summary on the progress of your research. When the project no longer requires contact with human participants, is completed and/or terminated, you need to provide the annual update form with a final brief summary, and your file will be closed.

The annual update form and amendment request form are on the ICEHR website at http://www.mun.ca/research/ethics/humans/icehr/applications/.

We wish you success with your research.

Yours sincerely,

Gail Wideman, Ph.D.

Vice-Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on

Ethics in Human Research

Tail Wideman

GW/lw

copy: Supervisor – Dr. Noel Hurley, Faculty of Education Associate Dean, Graduate Programs, Faculty of Education